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● (1835)

[English]
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green (Hamilton Centre,

NDP)): Good evening to the committee members and our guests
here today.

I'd like to call this meeting to order and welcome everyone to
meeting number nine of the Special Joint Committee on the Decla‐
ration of Emergency, created pursuant to the order of the House on
March 2, 2022, and of the Senate on March 3, 2022.

Today's meeting is taking place in a hybrid format, pursuant to
the order of the House dated November 25, 2021.

I'd like to remind all those present in the room to please follow
the recommendations of the public health authorities, as well as the
directives of the Board of Internal Economy, to maintain health and
safety.

Should any technical or any other challenges arise, please advise
me, as we may need to suspend for a few minutes to ensure that all
members are able to fully participate.

Witnesses should also be aware that translation is available
through the globe icon at the bottom of your screens and, of course,
on the microphones in front of you.

We have with us today, from 6:30 to 8 p.m., representatives from
the Department of Justice. We have François Daigle, who is the
deputy minister of justice and deputy attorney general of Canada.
We have Samantha Maislin Dickson, who is the assistant deputy
minister of the public safety, defence and immigration portfolio. We
have Jenifer Aitken, who is the acting assistant deputy minister of
the central agencies portfolio; and Heather Watts, who is the deputy
director general and general counsel for the human rights law sec‐
tion. Welcome.

You will all have five minutes for your opening remarks. We will
begin....

Go ahead, Mr. Clerk.
The Joint Clerk of the Committee (Mr. Paul Cardegna):

There's only one opening statement.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): There's only one open‐

ing statement. I'm sure you all have done rock paper scissors and
will determine who is doing that.

We will allow you to begin, Mr. Daigle. Thank you.

The floor is yours for five minutes.

[Translation]

Mr. François Daigle (Deputy Minister of Justice and Deputy
Attorney General of Canada, Department of Justice): Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

Good evening, everyone.

[English]

Honourable joint chairs and committee members, thank you for
the invitation to speak.

I want to cover three points in my opening remarks. First is the
test to invoke the Emergencies Act. Second, I want to speak to the
temporary measures. Third, I'll speak to compliance with the char‐
ter.

[Translation]

On the first element of the test, I invite you to read sections 3, 16
and 17 of the Emergencies Act. Section 3 states that a national
emergency is an urgent and critical situation of a temporary nature
that seriously endangers the health and safety of Canadians and that
cannot be effectively dealt with under any other law of Canada.

[English]

I want to make two points about that.

First, on February 14, the Governor in Council decided that our
country was indeed in such a crisis situation. The reasons for issu‐
ing the declaration of a public order emergency were set out in
great detail in the public document required by section 58 of the
act. It's that document that summarizes the facts that the GIC relied
on at the time to come to the conclusions that there were reasonable
grounds to invoke the Emergencies Act. I believe that this docu‐
ment is before the committee.

Second, the GIC determined that the situation had exceeded the ca‐
pacity and authority of the provinces and territories to respond “ef‐
fectively”, or “adéquatement” as it says in the French version.

The test is not whether other laws existed, like other provincial
highway traffic acts. The test is whether they were effective at deal‐
ing with the emergency. Nor is the test whether they could have
been effective. The test is whether they were effective. The govern‐
ment determined that they were not and enacted time-limited mea‐
sures for law enforcement and financial service providers to use, at
their discretion, to deal with the emergency.
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[Translation]

The Emergency Measures Regulations that were made prohibited
certain targeted conduct and gave peace officers the power to pre‐
serve and maintain the public peace.

Each of the prohibitions listed in sections 2 to 5 of the Regula‐
tions addressed behaviours observed during the unlawful blockades
and the occupation of Ottawa streets. The key prohibition is set out
in subsection 2(1), which supplements the powers to maintain the
peace that police have at common law by prohibiting certain public
assemblies. It does not affect all public assemblies, only a very pre‐
cise, targeted type: a public assembly that may reasonably be ex‐
pected to lead to a breach of the peace by the serious disruption of
the movement of persons or goods or the serious interference with
trade, the interference with the functioning of critical infrastructure,
or the support of the threat or use of acts of serious violence against
persons or property.

The measures also provided that a person must not bring children
to unlawful assemblies—conduct that we all observed in Ottawa
and Windsor. The measures also provided that a foreign national
must not enter Canada with the intent to participate in an assembly
referred to in that section, and prohibit providing property or funds
to support unlawful assemblies.

The related Emergency Economic Measures Order, which pro‐
vides for certain bank accounts to be frozen, was also very targeted
and limited. The obligations to which financial institutions were
subject no longer applied, that is, ceased to apply, if the “designated
person”, a term defined in the order, ceased to engage in unlawful
activities. It was therefore easy for a person to exempt themself
from the freeze simply by leaving the unlawful assemblies.
[English]

The objectives of the measures were clear: to deter the atten‐
dance at unlawful assemblies, to bring an end to the unlawful
blockades and get people to leave, and to prevent the formation of
new unlawful blockades and protests.
● (1840)

Finally, on the charter, as the Minister of Justice said at his ap‐
pearance on April 26, the measures were consistent with the char‐
ter, and the declaration did not suspend the charter. That is clear
from the act. The charter continued to protect rights and freedoms
as the government took the necessary lawful and proportionate
measures to address the blockades.

I want to explain what we do at the Department of Justice when
we review new laws, like these temporary measures, for charter
compliance. We are not the police deciding whether or how to use
existing or new authorities, nor are we prosecutors deciding
whether to pursue a prosecution. We review the law on its face, in
this case the temporary orders, to understand their objectives and
examine whether the measures are inconsistent with the charter.

The examination can include consideration of whether any inter‐
ference with a charter right is justified in a free and democratic so‐
ciety as allowed by section 1 of the charter. We look at their scope
and their relationship to the objectives of the measures. We rely on
decisions from the courts, including the Supreme Court of Canada.

While we can't share our legal opinions that we may have pre‐
pared for the executive branch, we can explain the position of the
government. The minister has already explained that his position
was that the measures were targeted, proportional, time limited and
charter compliant.

The minister has tabled today a charter backgrounder that sets
out the charter considerations that go through sections 2(b), 2(c), 6,
7 and 8. I hope that will help your understanding and deliberations.

[Translation]

In conclusion, we found that, overall, the Regulations and the
Order prevented the organizing of unlawful protests and enabled
the police to get control of the situation. The occupiers left in order
to avoid having their accounts frozen. People stopped bringing their
children to unlawful protests, and this enabled the police to enforce
the law in Ottawa. The measures also deterred other people from
joining the blockades. Those were the actual objectives of the new
measures adopted under the Emergencies Act.

That concludes my introduction. We are eager to answer your
questions.

[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you very much.
I'll note that we went a bit beyond the five-minute scope, but it's
important that those opening remarks were heard. In your remarks,
you had mentioned a document that had been prepared. Has that
been submitted for distribution at this committee?

A voice: It was distributed earlier today.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Excellent. Thank you
very much.

Before we get into the rounds, I would like you to note that in
this committee we're going to be probably moving at a fairly rapid
pace, given our time constraints. The member who has the floor
controls their time. If you hear members say, “Thank you”, or if
they gently interrupt you and interject to move on to the next ques‐
tion, I just want you to know that it's not personal. They would like
to move on to the next question to be able to protect their time. I
would ask that members do so in a way that is tactful and allows
the discussion to flow.

If it is the case that a round comes to a close, but there is infor‐
mation that's being presented, I'll let you know and you can finish
your thought. We certainly don't want to be cutting anybody off
mid-sentence.

We will begin the first round with Mr. Motz, who will have five
minutes.

Mr. Motz, the floor is yours.

Mr. Glen Motz (Medicine Hat—Cardston—Warner, CPC):
Thank you, Chair.
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Before you start the clock, I will just say publicly thank you for
being here as department officials in person. This is one of the first
times this has occurred, other than when we have had the ministers,
and it says a lot about your willingness to be heard and to be open
to what it is that we're doing. Thank you very much for doing that.

Deputy Minister Daigle, I just want to make a comment about
your opening remarks. You indicated that the invocation was neces‐
sary because the existing laws basically were inadequate. This is
not a question but a comment. I suggest that the existing laws were
inadquately applied more than anything else.

Let me get into the questions. The Emergencies Act is clear, as
you mentioned, sir, that a national emergency is “an urgent and crit‐
ical situation of a temporary nature” that “cannot be effectively
dealt with under any other law of Canada. Given the number of
laws we have in this country that could have addressed these
protests, the federal government must have reached a very high
threshold before invoking the emergency powers.

Can you state categorically, yes or no, that the government exer‐
cised every legislative option before invoking the Emergencies
Act?

Mr. François Daigle: I can't provide a yes-or-no answer to your
question, because the test is not whether we exercised every piece
of legislation in the country. The test is whether those laws were
being used effectively to deal with the emergency, and our view is
that they were not.

Mr. Glen Motz: Is that a law issue, or is that an “application of
the law” issue?

Mr. François Daigle: That's an “application of the law” issue.
The laws were being applied—

Mr. Glen Motz: That's different.
Mr. François Daigle: —in different places, but they were not

dealing effectively with the emergency.
Mr. Glen Motz: I haven't had a chance to go through the docu‐

ment you provided in great detail. Were you or your department
asked to produce, obviously, a constitutional review of the legality
of invoking the Emergencies Act?
● (1845)

Mr. François Daigle: We provide legal advice to the executive
branch of government on all matters, and it's safe to assume that we
have in this case. After the minister's appearance on April 26, I
asked Heather and her office to prepare this document, because I
thought it could be helpful to the committee.

Mr. Glen Motz: Has the minister ever gone against any of the
advice he's received from his ministry?

Mr. François Daigle: I'm not going to tell you what the govern‐
ment does with the advice it gets from the Department of Justice. I
think they're always happy to get our advice, but ultimately they
make decisions with the benefit of that advice.

Mr. Glen Motz: Can you make the review you've done available
to the committee?

Mr. François Daigle: We've made this charter backgrounder
available to the committee, and we're happy to speak to that docu‐
ment if there are some questions about it.

Mr. Glen Motz: Given your comments in the opening, has your
department recommended any new laws to the minister since the
invocation of the Emergencies Act that would better suit and ad‐
dress similar situations in the future?

Mr. François Daigle: Whether we've provided legal advice to
the government, I think, is not something I can share.

Mr. Glen Motz: In your opening statement, you said that the ex‐
isting laws weren't adequate. My question is this: Have you sug‐
gested to the minister that there are some new laws that we could
have?

Mr. François Daigle: I didn't say that the laws were not ade‐
quate. I said that the laws were not applied effectively to deal with
the emergency.

Mr. Glen Motz: I'm taking it by your kind of non-answer that
you really haven't talked to the minister about any new laws that
could be implemented in this country. By that, can I then infer that
maybe you think the existing laws are actually adequate but they
just weren't adequately applied? Would that be a fair statement?

Mr. François Daigle: Our view is that the laws that were on the
books were not effective at dealing with the emergency and that we
needed new laws—these measures that we implemented, that we
enacted—in order to help the police and financial service providers
to deal with the emergency.

The government is obviously looking at a “lessons learned” exer‐
cise. There is an inquiry going on, and I'm sure the government will
take advice from that inquiry and determine whether they want to
amend the Emergencies Act or if there are some other statutes they
think they should deal with in order to deal with future emergen‐
cies.

Mr. Glen Motz: I would suggest, respectfully, Mr. Daigle, that
this committee also has a responsibility and that the government
needs to take seriously the recommendations that are going to come
out of this committee and not just out of the public inquiry.

Mr. François Daigle: I agree with you, yes.
Mr. Glen Motz: There are media reports that came out at the be‐

ginning of June saying there were two secret or unpublished orders
in council that were adopted during the period of the protests from
January to February. The Privy Council Office has declined to re‐
lease these orders in council or to make them public, citing a sec‐
tion of the federal access to information law that allows the govern‐
ment to keep secret documents as they feel is necessary.

Can you tell us about these orders in council?
Mr. François Daigle: I can tell you that my department drafted

all of the orders related to the emergency. There was a proclama‐
tion, a declaration, an order and a regulation, and all four were
made public. There were no secret orders related to the emergency
that were taken.

Mr. Glen Motz: Not from your department...?
Mr. François Daigle: From the government.
Mr. Glen Motz: From all of government...?
Mr. François Daigle: From all of government.
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Mr. Glen Motz: Okay.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you.

We will now move on to Mr. Virani for five minutes.

Mr. Virani, the floor is yours.
Mr. Arif Virani (Parkdale—High Park, Lib.): Thank you very

much.

Thank you to the witnesses.

I'll direct my questions to Deputy Minister Daigle, and it's proba‐
bly going to be a bit punchy so just quick answers would be great.
[Translation]

Thank you in advance.
[English]

You talked about the Emergencies Act, and actually in its pream‐
ble, it refers to being charter compliant or being “subject to” the
charter. Is that correct?

Mr. François Daigle: It does, yes.
Mr. Arif Virani: When the Emergencies Act is enacted it doesn't

operate to temporarily suspend charter rights in any way, does it?
Mr. François Daigle: It does not.
Mr. Arif Virani: I want to delve into the charter.

When we talk about the charter itself, section 2(b) protects ex‐
pression, but the case law and the jurisprudence doesn't extend that
protection to anything except for peaceful non-violent expression.

Is that fair?
Mr. François Daigle: Freedom of expression is a freedom under

our Charter of Rights and Freedoms but there are necessary limits
to that, so hate speech is not protected and violence is not protected.
Ms. Watts would be happy to provide more detail on the charter
background if you're interested.
● (1850)

Mr. Arif Virani: Let's skip to 2(c). Section 2(c) of the charter
protects assembly but it specifically entrenches peaceful assembly.
That's what's in the charter itself. .

Mr. François Daigle: Exactly, and that's why our orders are
drafted and I went through section 2(a) of the order to explain that
it was not any public assembly that was prohibited. It was only
some specific types of assembly that create three specific harms.

Mr. Arif Virani: Exactly, in the part that your department helped
draft it talks about, in section c(i) of that original declaration, re‐
striction on assembly “other than lawful advocacy, protest or dis‐
sent”, and that was deliberate.

Mr. François Daigle: That was deliberate, yes.
Mr. Arif Virani: Nevertheless we know that the regulations that

were enacted can have some impact on even what can be construed
as non-violent or peaceful expression, but in your view, as you ex‐
plained in your opening remarks, that impact was justified under
what's called the “savings” clause under section 1 of the charter.

Mr. François Daigle: It is, and I think there's a difference to be
made in terms of whether a law is charter compliant on its face, and

whether in its application by police or others when they applied the
law they did it in a charter-compliant manner.

What we do at the Department of Justice is review the law for
charter compliance, with an understanding of how it could be ap‐
plied, but we're not applying them. Others are applying the new
measures.

Mr. Arif Virani: Understood, but some of the things that would
have worked into your analysis and the evaluation you gave was
the fact that, given the Charter of Rights and Freedoms, they were
limited in terms of time and in terms of scope.

Is that—

Mr. François Daigle: Exactly. They were proportional and they
were very tied to the objectives, which were to bring an end to
these illegal assemblies, the blockades and the occupation in Ot‐
tawa. They were proportional to the objectives. They were time
limited, and they were very targeted.

Mr. Arif Virani: The invocation of the declaration itself oc‐
curred some days—many days—into the protest, and it was re‐
voked after about nine days in total, between the 14th and 23rd if I
remember correctly.

Mr. François Daigle: That's correct. February 14 is when the
declaration was issued. February 15 is when we took out the orders,
and the 23rd is when they were revoked.

Mr. Arif Virani: I want to turn to the constitutionality of the
economic measures order now, if I may.

As a general proposition, section 7 of the charter and section 8 of
the charter have not been interpreted by the courts to generally pro‐
tect economic or property rights in this country. Is that correct?

Mr. François Daigle: That's our understanding and that's, I
think, set out in our charter backgrounder.

Mr. Arif Virani: When something contemplates potential im‐
prisonment, we know that the life, liberty and security process is
triggered so we have to embark upon analysis under section 7.

But section 7 also talks about principles of fundamental justice,
and some of those basic principles are things like arbitrariness or
overbreadth. Is that fair?

Mr. François Daigle: That's fair, yes.

Mr. Arif Virani: In your view, the powers enacted under the
Emergencies Act and the regulations that followed therefrom
weren't arbitrarily overbroad because they were tailored to a very
specific objective that you articulated at the outset, which was end‐
ing the blockades and preventing the formation of new unlawful
blockades.

Is that fair?

Mr. François Daigle: That is fair. That's what I said earlier, yes.
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Mr. Arif Virani: In terms of the targeted objective, in fact there
was a very specific targeted objective about those blockades that re‐
lated to the economic measures order, which was things like pro‐
viding or making available property that would help maintain the
blockades, keep them going, and that's why that was targeted in
section 5 of one of the orders.

Mr. François Daigle: It is and the objective was really to bring
an end to them, so to the extent that people were financing the ille‐
gal blockades, we wanted to find a way to stop people from coming
and—

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): You have 30 seconds.
Mr. François Daigle: —to stop the financing of those blockades.
Mr. Arif Virani: [Inaudible—Editor] that financing, we heard a

lot about the freezing of accounts.

It's our understanding that there were about 200 or so accounts
that were frozen. The freezing ceases pursuant to the legislation
that you have to draft in your department as soon as one's participa‐
tion in the unlawful blockade ends.

Is that correct?
Mr. François Daigle: That's correct.

The obligation is on the financial institution to cease transactions
with designated persons. A designated person is somebody who's
participating in one of these illegal assemblies. Once they're no
longer participating in the illegal assembly, then there's no longer
an obligation to cease transactions.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you.
[Translation]

Mr. Fortin, the floor is yours for five minutes.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin (Rivière-du-Nord, BQ)):

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you all for being here with us today.

My questions are for Mr. Daigle.

Mr. Daigle, I listened to your testimony and I want to be sure I
understood it correctly.

Were you, personally, consulted before the Emergencies Act was
proclaimed?

Mr. François Daigle: The Department of Justice and I, in partic‐
ular, took part in the discussions that led to the Act being invoked.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Who took part in those
discussions, apart from you and the Minister of Justice?

Mr. François Daigle: I think there has been testimony that has
already explained that there were necessarily discussions in Cabi‐
net. There were discussions among deputy ministers and with the
RCMP. I took part in some of them. Generally speaking, that is how
it happened. My colleagues also took part in a number of discus‐
sions with their clients, whether it was the RCMP, Public Safety
Canada, or others.
● (1855)

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Do you have an idea of
the number of discussions you participated in personally?

Mr. François Daigle: Personally, I started to work on it very in‐
tensively in mid-February, around February 6 or 7, and up to Febru‐
ary 23.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Did you write any legal
opinions relating to the proclamation?

Mr. François Daigle: As I explained, the Department of Justice
has the role of giving legal opinions to the government.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Did you do that?
Mr. François Daigle: You can assume that a number of legal

opinions were prepared...
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Forgive me for interrupt‐

ing you. I don't want to be rude, but we don't have a lot of time and
I need a clear answer.

Did you sign a legal opinion or legal opinions relating to the
proclamation of the emergency measures?

Mr. François Daigle: You can assume that a number of legal
opinions were prepared...

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): I don't want to assume
anything, Mr. Daigle.

Mr. François Daigle: My minister has already explained that he
would not provide you with the legal opinions that we prepared.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): We will see that in due
course with Mr. Lametti, but I am asking you a question, and if you
don't want to answer it, tell me and that will settle it.

Did you sign legal opinions concerning the proclamation of the
emergency measures, yes or no?

Mr. François Daigle: I decline to answer your question directly.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Thank you.

You said earlier that to your knowledge, no secret order was
made by the government. Is that correct?

Mr. François Daigle: There was no secret order in connection
with the order under the Emergencies Act.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): We saw in the media that
a number of secret orders had been made, including two during
February.

Are you aware of the existence of those two secret orders?
Mr. François Daigle: Like you, I read what was in the newspa‐

pers, but I have not seen those orders. However, I can tell you that
the orders connected with the Emergencies Act are all public.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Do you know what the
two orders in question dealt with?

Mr. François Daigle: No.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Did you take part in de‐

veloping the strategy for dismantling the barricades and so on?
Mr. François Daigle: No, that was the police's work, and the

Department of Justice does not give instructions to the police who
are handling those issues.
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The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): To summarize, your in‐
volvement regarding the emergency measures took place ahead of
them. Before the proclamation, you had discussions about it, but
once the proclamation was made, you were no longer involved with
anything concerning the situation. Is that correct?

Mr. François Daigle: No, we continued to take part in a number
of meetings to know how the orders were being applied and what
was happening on the ground, and whether the measures were ef‐
fective. We continued to hold discussions until the government de‐
cided to revoke the Act once it was satisfied that things were under
control.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Why did you have discus‐
sions?

Was it about amending the proclamation, about adding orders or
regulations?

What was your job at the Department of Justice at that point?
Mr. François Daigle: We had to continue giving the government

legal opinions based on the situation and the questions that might
arise.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): If you tell me that you had
to continue giving legal opinions, I understand that you did give le‐
gal opinions.

Mr. François Daigle: The Department of Justice gives the gov‐
ernment a number of legal opinions every day.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): That is in general. Specif‐
ically concerning the emergency situation, you gave legal opinions
before and after the proclamation, if I understand correctly.

Am I mistaken?
Mr. François Daigle: Yes.

What I told you is that you can assume that we gave a number of
legal opinions.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): I don't want to assume
anything, Mr. Daigle. If I need to, I'll read the Act and the regula‐
tions.

You are here as a witness. You have to testify to the facts.

Did you give legal opinions, yes or no?

You can tell me that you won't answer the question, but don't tell
me that the general rule is this or that. I don't want an expert opin‐
ion. I want the opinion of a fact witness.

Did you give opinions, yes or no?
Mr. François Daigle: The answers to the questions about

whether we gave one opinion, two opinions, or none, and at what
time, are subject to professional privilege. They are not questions
that I can answer.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): You just told me that you
took part in discussions in order to give legal opinions after the
proclamation, so you gave legal opinions.

Mr. François Daigle: What I am telling you is that you can as‐
sume that I did my job. That is part of my job.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): I'm not here to evaluate
you, Mr. Daigle, with respect.

I understand your discomfort, but understand that I am here to in‐
vestigate this situation.
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you.

Monsieur Fortin, I'd like to pass the floor to you for my round.
● (1900)

Mr. Glen Motz: Before you do, Chair, can I raise a point of or‐
der?

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): You can.
Mr. Glen Motz: It's highly unusual for a witness to indicate—

and respectfully, sir—that they will not answer a question to a par‐
liamentary committee, to refuse to answer a question. I think it is
incumbent upon witnesses to understand the power of committees
and that they have obligations to answer questions. They can an‐
swer them in a different way, but refusing to answer a question is
not an option. I would ask that the committee compel the witness to
answer the question that Mr. Fortin provided to him.

Mr. Arif Virani: On the same point of order, Mr. Chair, I think
the deputy minister has indicated where he can.... He has been very
forthright, and where he cannot be forthright, he has indicated. Just
for everyone's edification, when we talk about solicitor-client privi‐
lege and what it covers, it can even cover the fact that an opinion
exists or a number of opinions exist. That's what Mr. Daigle was
explaining at the very end of his question, so there's a basis upon
which certain things cannot be responded to.

I've been at this job for seven years, and I've heard many wit‐
nesses not answer certain questions. Sometimes It's because it's out
of their realm of understanding or their scope or their expertise,
etc., so I'll respectfully disagree with Mr. Motz.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Mr. Brock.
Mr. Larry Brock (Brantford—Brant, CPC): With all due re‐

spect to my colleague Mr. Virani, that is not a legal interpretation of
what has just transpired. We had a senior government official—in
fact, apart from the Minister of Justice and the Attorney General,
the highest senior official from the Department of Justice—refuse
to answer a question posed by a committee member, without citing
cabinet confidentiality, without citing solicitor and client privilege.

I wholeheartedly disagree with Mr. Virani's interpretation that the
mere fact that a legal opinion was prepared and delivered to the
government constitutes privilege. It's ludicrous. We are not asking
at this stage for the content or the theme. We're not asking whether
or not it was delivered in person or by email. We're not asking
about the date.

The question posed by Monsieur Fortin was very general: Did
you sign a legal opinion before the Emergencies Act was invoked?
To which the witness stated very emphatically that he refused to an‐
swer the question. I am asking, Mr. Chair, that you direct the wit‐
ness to respond appropriately, as opposed to a simple refusal.

Mr. Arif Virani: Mr. Chair, if I could just add two very brief
points...?
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The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Very briefly, please.
Mr. Arif Virani: One is that, with respect, the fact that perhaps a

member of a committee doesn't appreciate an answer or like an an‐
swer doesn't mean that the question wasn't answered. That's my
first point.

The second point is that this committee doesn't have the power to
compel a witness to answer a question. Only Parliament does. Only
the House of Commons does.

The third point is that I find this a bit curious insofar as last week
we passed a motion that talked about production of documents, in‐
cluding legal advice that would have been provided. That answer
will be forthcoming. I think there was a time window put on that
production motion, so perhaps some of the answers my friends are
seeking will be provided when those productions are made.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Go ahead, Senator
Harder.

Hon. Peter Harder (Senator, Ontario, PSG): Thank you,
Chair.

I just want to intervene briefly. Having been a witness as a
deputy minister for 16 years before Senate and House of Commons
committees, I appreciate that there are times when questions are
asked of a deputy that the deputy is not able to respond to in the
fullness of knowledge that the questioner would wish. However, I
do believe the question was responded to and that is after all what
we're here for.

Therefore, I don't see this as a question of privilege, but a dis‐
traction from our hearing.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Are there any other in‐
terventions?

Mr. Daigle, if we were to go in camera, would you be willing to
be more forthright in answering these lines of questions?

Mr. François Daigle: I did refer to solicitor-client privilege
when invited by Monsieur Fortin to decline to answer his question.
That's the reason I'm not answering his question. Whether we're in
camera or not, I don't think that's going to change, but I take note of
the motion that was passed a few days ago. The government will
consider how we can respond by the end of the month, which I
think is the time frame for the response.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Are you familiar with
Standing Order 108 that constructs committees and says that there
are no bounds to our ability as a committee, duly constituted by the
House, to send for people, documents and evidence?
● (1905)

Mr. François Daigle: I am, yes.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Are you also familiar

with—and you may or may not be, but I'll state for the reference of
this committee—that in 1891 a witness before a committee of the
Senate of Canada objected to answering questions? The witness
gave reasons that he was not in any way obliged to give the com‐
mittee information relating to these affairs.

The committee had ordered the witness to answer, but he re‐
fused. The committee reported his refusal to the Senate, and re‐

quested action of the Senate thereon. The report of the committee
was adopted by the Senate, and the witness was ordered to attend
the bar of the Senate. The witness was ordered by the Senate to an‐
swer the questions of the committee. After he agreed to do so, he
was discharged from the bar.

There is jurisprudence within our system that these committees
are supreme in their ability to investigate these issues. I guess I
would like—

Mr. Yasir Naqvi (Ottawa Centre, Lib.): Chair, can I—
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): I have the floor. I

would like to put to you that this committee has been duly consti‐
tuted under those provisions. The convention of cabinet confidence
is just that. It's never been conceded by the House of Commons in
any kind of jurisprudence. It's just a convention.

Mr. Naqvi.
Mr. Yasir Naqvi: I was trying to ascertain whether you were

asking these questions as a member of this committee or as the
chair.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): It's as the chair who's
considering the decision of what's before us right now.

Mr. Yasir Naqvi: Thank you.
Mr. Arif Virani: Further to this point, Mr. Chair, that's exactly

the point I made. The jurisprudence you referenced showed that it
went from a committee to the Senate, which then compelled the
witness. That's exactly the operation that would need to be followed
here, should this committee wish to pursue it. It has to go from the
committee to the House of Commons, to then compel the witness.
That jurisprudence is established.

The second point is that cabinet confidence was not raised by Mr.
Daigle. Solicitor-client privilege was raised, so please, let's not con‐
flate the ideas.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Crown privilege, is
that what you're—

Mr. Arif Virani: Solicitor-client privilege, which covers not just
the advice but also the mere fact that the advice exists, or the num‐
ber of times the advice has been given—

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): That is aligned with
Crown privilege. Is that correct?

Mr. Arif Virani: It's solicitor-client privilege.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Which is Crown privi‐

lege.
Mr. Arif Virani: No, it is not
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): I'm going to take a mo‐

ment and just recess. I'm going to come back to this.
Mr. Glen Motz: Chair, before you do that, please, can I suggest

that we put this in abeyance for now, and consider it at some point
down the road. There are questions we need to ask with limited
time, and I want to ask that we just—

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): I'll pass the chair and
I'll—
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[Translation]
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Mr. Chair, Mr. Virani tells

us that the witness is invoking solicitor-client privilege. I under‐
stand that, but it does not apply in the case before us.

Mr. Daigle is not here as a lawyer for the Minister of Justice. He
is here to represent the Department of Justice in his position as
Deputy Minister. In his position as Deputy Minister, he does not en‐
joy solicitor-client privilege when he speaks with his boss.

I'm not going to spend any more time arguing here, but we will
continue this debate in the House of Commons or the Senate in due
course. I am just saying that solicitor-client privilege, in
Mr. Daigle's case, in spite of all the respect I have for him, does not
apply. He is not Mr. Lametti's lawyer, he is a Department of Justice
official.
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): That's duly noted.

At this time, I will pass the chair over to you, Mr. Fortin, so that I
can engage in my five minutes of questioning.
[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): The floor is yours,
Mr. Chair.
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you very much.

Mr. Daigle, are you familiar with the duty of candour as applied
in the CSIS Act?

Mr. François Daigle: I am very familiar with the duty of can‐
dour, yes, and you have my promise to be as candid as I can be here
today.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): In refusing to answer
questions as put before you, do you consider that to be in keeping
with the duty of candour, as defined?

Mr. François Daigle: Even the Federal Court and the Supreme
Court of Canada would recognize that solicitor-client information is
confidential and privileged. By claiming solicitor-client privilege, I
was not refusing to answer. I was explaining that there are limits to
the information I can provide.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): In the lead-up to the
declaration of the emergency, how did your department assess the
threat to public safety and security posed by the blockades and the
convoy?

Mr. François Daigle: As I explained in my opening remarks, the
government looked at the definitions in sections 3, 16 and 17 of the
Emergencies Act. They summarized, in the section 58 report they
tabled in Parliament, the reasons and the facts that led them to
come to the conclusion that there were reasonable grounds to be‐
lieve that the threshold had been met.
● (1910)

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): You referenced the
government, but when you were a part of these discussions, you
would have been privy to the nature of these threats presumably be‐
yond the scope of what has been reported in the summary. Is that
correct?

Mr. François Daigle: The government summarized that infor‐
mation in the document, so I would refer you to that—

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): My question, through
you, Mr. Chair, to Mr. Daigle, is this: Would you have been the re‐
cipient of a body of evidence that you would have balanced these
risks against to check for proportionality?

Mr. François Daigle: As I said, I participated in discussions that
included Commissioner Lucki and others leading up to this. I re‐
ceived oral briefings of what was happening on the ground.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Were notes taken of
those briefings?

Mr. François Daigle: Notes were undoubtedly taken. Notes
were taken. I took my own notes of—

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Would you be willing
to share those with the committee?

Mr. François Daigle: We took note of the committee's request
for documents. There are some documents that are being prepared
to be shared with the committee in response to the motion, and—

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Some or all, sir?
Mr. François Daigle: We'll see. I think we have to assemble

them and go through them and see which ones we can produce
without breaching some laws. Our hope is that by the end of the
month we'll be able to pull those together.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Did you conduct other
consultations with departments and agencies to seek advice?

Mr. François Daigle: As I said, I participated in meetings with
client departments throughout this, from mid-February—

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Would you be willing
to provide the committee with details of the consultations you had
with other departments pertaining to this as well?

Mr. François Daigle: As I said, we're going to be pulling docu‐
ments together we can provide in order to respond to the motion
that—

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Which documents
could you not provide?

Mr. François Daigle: Excuse me...?
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Which documents are

you unwilling to provide or refusing to provide?
Mr. François Daigle: As I explained, my minister appeared on

the 26th and said that he wouldn't be providing legal opinions, so
those are the instructions I have right now. If the government is go‐
ing to decide otherwise, before the 30th, we'll let you know.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Notes on consultations
and briefing documents would not be legal opinions, necessarily.
Would you be willing to provide those?

Mr. François Daigle: As I said, I am working with Public Safety
and other departments to pull those documents together. We will be
providing a set of documents to help the committee with their de‐
liberations.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Will that include secu‐
rity assessments?
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Mr. François Daigle: I don't know if it's going to provide securi‐
ty assessments. You'll have to ask Public Safety and the other de‐
partments responsible for those reviews.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Of course, given the
stories.... You stated on the record, in your opening remarks, that
there were no special orders in council. You said that emphatically.
Then, of course, there was a story of two that were within the dates
of the Emergencies Act. Is there a possible scenario where secret
orders in council wouldn't have come to you, or you wouldn't know
about them?

Mr. François Daigle: I can guarantee you that there are no se‐
cret orders related to the Emergencies Act.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Is it just a coincidence
that they happened to fall within those?

Mr. François Daigle: As far as I can tell, it's a coincidence. I
haven't looked at the other two secret orders, those two orders that
are reported, but I can tell you that all of the orders related to this
have been made public.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): You haven't looked at
them, but you can state with assurance that they're not part of this.
How is that so, sir?

Mr. François Daigle: Because I've been involved in all of the
orders related to the Emergencies Act.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): A secret order in coun‐
cil wouldn't require your involvement.

Mr. François Daigle: If there were another order related to the
Emergencies Act, whether secret or not, I would know about it. I
don't know about a secret order and, therefore, it doesn't exist.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Okay.
[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Right.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you very much.
We will now go on to Senator Boniface.

Senator, the floor is yours, for five minutes.
The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface (Senator, Ontario,

ISG)): Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

To the witnesses, thank you for being here.

I'd like to zero in on the aspect of the proportionality to the pub‐
lic safety threat. Can you tell me how you made the determination,
or what factors you took into account to consider the level of public
safety threat that took place?

Mr. François Daigle: I refer you to that section 58 report that
talks about the nature of the threats that were being reported and
that we saw. That included threats of violence and threats not to
comply with the law. It included a presence of ideologically moti‐
vated violent extremism, and the other things that are referred to in
the section 58 report.
● (1915)

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Okay.

I assume that some of that information would have come to you
through the Department of Public Safety. Is it that kind of what the
process was? I'm just trying to figure out the process within govern‐
ment.

Mr. François Daigle: I think the process was mostly—and I
think others have talked about this—that we had a group of deputy
ministers who met regularly and who shared information. That's the
method through which most of that information came to me, any‐
way.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): In that group of
deputy ministers, I assume someone would chair. Would that have
been you?

Mr. François Daigle: No.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Within the proclama‐
tion itself, then, in declaring a public order emergency, the language
says, “the special temporary measures that may be necessary for
dealing with the emergency”.

If the consultations took place, I expect your table would have
had lots of discussions around that. Perhaps you can tell me specifi‐
cally why the term “may” would be used, as opposed to “shall” or
“will”? It's much more temporal.

Mr. François Daigle: It's difficult to know what the emergency
is going to be about. It could be any kind of situation. The idea be‐
hind “may” would be to provide much discretion to the government
to come up with the measures that would fit the particular emergen‐
cy they wanted to address.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): For clarity.... I'm just
trying to understand what the thought process was at the time. I'm
sure the documents will help us with that.

Would that be both what information you had on the table and al‐
so any other anticipation or concerns around other information that
may come forward and that may influence a shift in terms of what
people were doing or what they were up to? Was that taken into
consideration as well?

Mr. François Daigle: I think we met almost daily and we got in‐
formation daily. We adjusted based on the information that we had.

We obviously didn't draft these things in a few minutes. We an‐
ticipated the potential of the government deciding to do that. We
worked with the RCMP and our legal advisers and drafters, and we
tried to sort out what would be helpful in coming up with orders.
Then it went through a process of review before they were final‐
ized.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Thank you for that. I
think I understand how the operation of it works from the other end
of it.

What I was trying to get a feel for was that, in considering all of
these things, you would also consider some of the other concerns
you had that may not have occurred yet or were anticipated. Weigh‐
ing risk, I would suspect, was a big part of the decision that was
made—and trying to land on the right spot.
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Would there be documents, or some considerations that would be
in writing, that would help us understand the other issues that you
looked at or that you anticipated based on the information and, I'll
say, the very soft side of the intelligence you may have had at the
time?

Mr. François Daigle: I think what we're hoping to do with this
collection of documents that we're pulling together to respond to
the motion is to provide a bit of that picture. It will be consistent
with what's in that section 58 report. I don't think you'll see some‐
thing that says, “We think this might happen but we put an X on it.”
It was a very dynamic and urgent situation.

As you know, under the act, there was always the ability for....
Had the act not been revoked, this committee, or a committee like
this one, would have been able to look at the orders and revoke
them or amend them. It would have been possible for the govern‐
ment to bring in new orders, depending on what was happening on
the ground and what needed to be addressed.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you. It does go
by quickly.
[Translation]

Mr. Carignan, the floor is yours for five minutes.
Hon. Claude Carignan (Senator, Quebec (Mille Isles), C):

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Daigle, I want to make sure I understand your testimony cor‐
rectly. As we know, you are a lawyer. You are telling us that the
problem is not because there are no laws, it is because they are inef‐
fective in this particular situation. That is what I have understood.

Mr. François Daigle: That is what I said, yes.
● (1920)

Hon. Claude Carignan: Right.

What laws did you try to enforce that didn't work?
Mr. François Daigle: First, I would note that it isn't the Depart‐

ment of Justice that enforces laws, it's the police forces across the
country.

Hon. Claude Carignan: What were you told, in that case?
Mr. François Daigle: We had to observe the situation and see

whether the police forces were able to manage it with the laws
available to them, whether it was the Department of Transport or
the police forces.

Hon. Claude Carignan: Maybe you didn't give any legal opin‐
ions; we shall see later. However, you did decide to issue an order
together.

What specific laws was the government not able to enforce
through the police services or other state agents?

Mr. François Daigle: Since I live in the region, I was following
the situation closely. What I saw from watching television was that
the Ottawa Police Service was having trouble enforcing even mu‐
nicipal or provincial laws, including laws on...

Hon. Claude Carignan: What laws are you talking about?
Mr. François Daigle: I'm talking about the Motor Vehicles Act

and the Highway Traffic Act, in particular.

Hon. Claude Carignan: Do you know that because you watched
television or because you had to assess that aspect as part of your
job?

Mr. François Daigle: We were receiving information every day
from colleagues of Ms. Lucki and other people. So the government
was able to determine whether or not the work was enough to effec‐
tively manage the situation.

Hon. Claude Carignan: You referred to precise provisions that
you weren't able to enforce. What provisions are those?

Mr. François Daigle: I can't refer you to precise provisions of
provincial laws. However, it was clear, from what we were seeing,
that the emergency was a problem. Things were continuing to hap‐
pen every weekend and problems were on the rise. The police were
having trouble moving the trucks and keeping order in Ottawa and
Windsor, for example.

Hon. Claude Carignan: In Ottawa, on February 12, the police
service issued a statement in which it said it had a plan. Do you
know what that plan was?

Mr. François Daigle: I didn't see the plan. I was told there was
one. I know the plan was being worked on with the RCMP.

Hon. Claude Carignan: Was the plan communicated to you?
Mr. François Daigle: Personally, I didn't see the plan.
Hon. Claude Carignan: Right.

Do you know that in its media release on February 12, the police
service stated that it had a plan and was awaiting reinforcements? It
said it would put the plan into operation once it had the reinforce‐
ments. That release is dated February 12.

Do you know whether the reinforcements were provided to the
Ottawa Police Service?

Mr. François Daigle: In their testimony, which has already been
heard, Ms. Lucki and Mr. Duheme said they had sent reinforce‐
ments to Ottawa. I think there were police coming from more or
less everywhere.

Hon. Claude Carignan: Was that after February 14?
Mr. François Daigle: It was before and after February 12, but

you would have to ask Ms. Lucki about that. I don't have that infor‐
mation, unfortunately.

Hon. Claude Carignan: If I understand correctly, you don't
know what specific provisions those people were not able to en‐
force and you did not take part with police services in discussions
dealing with their inability to enforce the provisions.

Mr. François Daigle: Personally, I had no discussions with the
Ottawa Police Service.

Hon. Claude Carignan: Right.

Did you have discussions with other police forces?
Mr. François Daigle: I had discussions with the RCMP, but not

with other police forces.
Hon. Claude Carignan: What did the people at the RCMP tell

you? Did they tell you they weren't managing?

Did they ask for the Emergencies Act to be applied?
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Mr. François Daigle: I think you already have the answer to that
question that Ms. Lucki gave.

Hon. Claude Carignan: I have Ms. Lucki's answer, but not
yours.

Mr. François Daigle: Ms. Lucki didn't ask me the question. The
fact is that under the Act, it is the Governor in Council, not
Ms. Lucki, who has to make that request and make that decision.

Hon. Claude Carignan: Right.

Was the document on the Charter that you provided to us, that we
received today, prepared after the Minister appeared?

Mr. François Daigle: Yes, that's right.
Hon. Claude Carignan: Right.

I want to understand your definition of the word “seizure” cor‐
rectly. In your opinion, that was not a seizure within the meaning of
the Charter, because it's the banks that block the accounts.

Is that what you're telling us?
Mr. François Daigle: First, there was no seizure, because there

was no transfer of ownership. No one took someone's account and
gave it to someone else.
● (1925)

Hon. Claude Carignan: Surely you're familiar with the Laroche
decision.

Hon. Claude Carignan: You're a lawyer, you are the most se‐
nior official in the department...

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Forgive me for inter‐
rupting you, Mr. Carignan, but your speaking time is up.

Hon. Claude Carignan: No problem, because I'll have other op‐
portunities to ask questions.
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): I know you're on a roll,
sir. I do appreciate that. Thank you very much.

Senator Harder, the floor is yours for five minutes.
Hon. Peter Harder: Thank you very much, Chair.

Let me begin by associating myself with Mr. Motz's comments
about your willingness to appear in front of us in person. I think
that adds to the conversation. I hope you take it in the spirit in
which it's offered, in that part of what we are seeking is to under‐
stand in a more interactive way than technology allows. Thank you
very much.

My second point is simply to say that I welcome the charter
statement. I believe it's an important contribution to our under‐
standing. While it's a bit late, it does add to our information.

My question is a follow-up to your comment, and Senator Carig‐
nan spoke to it a bit. You said that it was observed that what was
happening on the ground exceeded the capacity of other jurisdic‐
tions. I certainly share that observation. I'm interested in how you
came to that conclusion, and I might have some follow-up ques‐
tions on your response.

Thank you.

Mr. François Daigle: It was a conclusion of the government,
based on all of the information they were seeing, which was being
updated basically on a daily basis as we were getting debriefs from
law enforcement on what was happening in Ottawa, Windsor,
Coutts, Emerson, Fredericton, Halifax, etc.

Hon. Peter Harder: As part of that collective observation,
would you have concluded that there were police failures to prose‐
cute the existing legal regimes in place?

Mr. François Daigle: It's difficult for me to say whether they
were failures of police, because I—

Hon. Peter Harder: They weren't successes.

Mr. François Daigle: They were having a difficult.... You know,
people were not leaving Ottawa. That was the conclusion, despite
efforts and several plans they tried to put into effect.

With the help of the OPP, they managed to get people out of
Windsor and to open that corridor. They still had difficulty keeping
it open, and they needed to expend a lot of resources to make sure
that they could keep it open.

Hon. Peter Harder: Exactly. I don't view failures as a moral
failing. I simply view them as a practical conclusion from what we
were observing operationally. The existing applied resources in the
existing legal frameworks were inadequate, as you say, for the ca‐
pacity of the other jurisdictions.

I'd like to talk to you a little bit about the consultations that you
were a party to. I understand that yours is more on the legal and not
the operational side. Did you consult or have ongoing discussions
with, for example, the attorney general's office in Ontario?

Mr. François Daigle: Personally, I did not, but I know that the
department did have some conversations with the city solicitor's of‐
fice in Ottawa and with the Ontario attorney general—not his office
but the ministry.

Hon. Peter Harder: Right, and were there conversations with
the city as well?

Mr. François Daigle: Yes...with the city as well.

Hon. Peter Harder: In the consultation process, we've now had
public statements from the head of the RCMP and the City of Ot‐
tawa's then police chief saying that they did not ask for the invoca‐
tion of the act.

I don't view that as terribly consequential. I view it as essential
that they were consulted with respect to the circumstances that the
government was facing and they were facing. Can you confirm that
consultation, in fact, took place directly with them?

Mr. François Daigle: That consultation, as we were drafting or‐
ders, did take place directly with the RCMP. What we were trying
to do was figure out what would be helpful to bring an end to the
occupation and the blockades.
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Hon. Peter Harder: Was there alignment, as you observed it?
Are you prepared to comment that there was broad alignment that
the actions the government did take were the logical conclusion to
the observations that you stated with respect to exceeding the ca‐
pacity of the jurisdictions?

Mr. François Daigle: I think what resulted was the orders we
did have. You've heard from the commissioner that these were help‐
ful in bringing an end to the occupation and blockades, so yes, they
were.
● (1930)

Hon. Peter Harder: My third question, if we have time, Mr.
Chair....

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): You have 10 seconds.
Hon. Peter Harder: It will be in the next round. It's something

to look forward to.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you very much,

Senator Harder.

I'd like to welcome Senator Campbell back to the committee. He
is here with us virtually.

Senator Campbell, you have five minutes, and the floor is yours.
Hon. Larry W. Campbell (Senator, British Columbia, CSG):

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

One thing I've realized about being last in the order is that they
give all the good questions to the people before you.

I'm concerned about your statement that you were learning about
this on TV. Perhaps you can explain to us how much consultation
you had with the Ottawa police versus the RCMP. It would seem to
me this was an Ottawa problem, and that, certainly, the RCMP
would be necessary. However, it seems, from what you've said—
and I could be wrong—there was more consultation with the Moun‐
ties than the Ottawa police. Is that correct?

Mr. François Daigle: I think it depends who you ask the ques‐
tion to.

I definitely had more conversations with the RCMP than the Ot‐
tawa police, but I believe the RCMP had more conversations with
the Ottawa police than it had with me. What I participated in were
regular briefings that involved the RCMP, which told us what was
happening across the country, since the RCMP is in many jurisdic‐
tions. There were also conversations with the OPP and Sûreté du
Québec, but I wasn't participating in those consultations and con‐
versations, although they were reported to the group of deputies.

Hon. Larry W. Campbell: We're always focusing on Ontario,
and I know the sun shines all the time in Ontario, but on that note,
Alberta and B.C., in fact, had some difficulties at the border involv‐
ing firearms. There are a number of police forces there: Delta, as
well as the RCMP.

Did you talk to any of those municipal government or provincial
officials about what their thoughts were on this?

Mr. François Daigle: No, I did not, but I know the RCMP spoke
to those forces.

Hon. Larry W. Campbell: The RCMP seems to be playing a
big role in this, but I've been watching these procedures and, quite
frankly, if that's any indication of....

Anyway, you did not, in fact, talk to anybody except the RCMP,
and they were giving you the information you needed.

Mr. François Daigle: That's not what I said. What I said is that I
participated in daily briefings that involved a number of depart‐
ments and agencies, which briefed us on what was happening on
the ground on a daily basis.

Hon. Larry W. Campbell: This is quite a dance.

Thank you very much.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): We will go to the sec‐
ond round. Given the time we have allotted for this section, they
will be four-minute rounds.

With that, we will begin with Mr. Brock.

Mr. Brock, the floor is yours for four minutes, sir.

Mr. Larry Brock: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to all the witnesses for your attendance today.

I will specifically be addressing questions to you, Mr. Daigle. I
mean no disrespect to the ladies on the panel, but my area is focus‐
ing on legal threshold and charter compliance.

Before I get to that area, I want to highlight, in my opening re‐
marks, that Perrin Beatty, a former defence minister and the author
of this particular legislation, has said that extraordinary government
powers require extraordinary accountability. This committee is leg‐
islatively constructed to thoroughly examine the government's role
in the invocation of the act. We are not here to discuss the
protesters themselves or the circumstances behind their arrival, but
whether or not the legal threshold was met and was charter compli‐
ant. That's going to be my focus.

We know the act itself requires two thresholds to be met. You're
aware of those thresholds. We have to establish that there's a threat
to the security of Canada, which is largely defined in the CSIS Act.
I take it that you're familiar with this act, Mr. Daigle.

● (1935)

Mr. François Daigle: I am.

Mr. Larry Brock: I'm not going to read out each individual
paragraph because it will take far too long. Can you tell me what
evidence the Department of Justice relied upon to establish relevant
and credible evidence that met the definition as set out through sub‐
sections (a) to (d), which are espionage; foreign influenced activi‐
ties; serious violence to achieve a political, religious or ideological
objective; and the overthrow of a constitutionally established sys‐
tem of government in Canada?

What evidence did the department rely upon?
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Mr. François Daigle: In answer to that question I would point
out that we don't have to meet (a), (b), (c) and (d) in order to invoke
the Emergencies Act. We only need to meet one of those.

The one that the government seized on was paragraph 2(c),
which talks about threats of violence to people and goods. The sec‐
tion 58 report that I have referred to, which has been tabled in Par‐
liament and shared with this committee, lays out the facts and the
reasons that set out the threats of violence that the government
identified and relied on to invoke the Act.

Mr. Larry Brock: You say threats of violence. The act refers to
threats of “serious violence against persons or property for the pur‐
pose of”—not independent of—“achieving a political, religious or
ideological objective within Canada”.

I agree with you that there was some evidence of some violent
acts. There were threats of harassment. There were threats of as‐
sault, if not actual, then perceived threats of assault. How does that
then go into the further definition of achieving a political, religious
or ideological objective within Canada?

Mr. François Daigle: Again, I would refer you to that report,
which sets out the reasons the government had to invoke the act.

Mr. Larry Brock: I'm asking you to spell it out right now, sir.
Mr. François Daigle: I can refer you to the threats of violence

when police tried to apply the laws and bring order. We have re‐
ports of those. There are reports of—

Mr. Larry Brock: Let me stop you right there.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you. Unfortu‐

nately—
Mr. Larry Brock: Is that it?
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): I just want to make

sure that we're applying the time restraints fairly. We want to make
sure that everybody has a chance.

We will now move on to Ms. Bendayan.

The floor is yours for four minutes, please.
[Translation]

Ms. Rachel Bendayan (Outremont, Lib.): Mr. Daigle, I would
also like to discuss the test that was done to determine whether it
was necessary to invoke the Emergencies Act with you.

I imagine you have a copy of the Act at hand. I invite you to read
section 3 of the Act, which you talked about in your opening re‐
marks. You drew our attention to the fact that under that section,
the test to be met was that the situation could not be effectively
dealt with under any other law of Canada.
[English]

Could I take you back a little bit to the earlier part of section 3 to
ask if the intention was to invoke subsection (a) or (b) or both?
[Translation]

I see there are two paragraphs in section 3.
Mr. François Daigle: I'm not sure I understand your question.
Ms. Rachel Bendayan: In section 3, it talks about the possibility

of declaring an emergency in two situations, which are set out in

paragraphs 3(a) and 3(b). Do you think that both circumstances ex‐
isted on February 14, 2022?

Mr. François Daigle: In light of the report that was provided for
in section 58, it is clear that the situation seriously endangered the
lives and the health and safety of certain Canadians, including the
economic health of a number of Canadians, because of the border
blockades. Under the Act, it could have been either of the para‐
graphs, and the government stopped at the first paragraph.

● (1940)

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: You mentioned several facts.

The Minister of Public Safety testified before the committee
about the border crossings at Coutts, Alberta, at Emerson, Manito‐
ba, and at Surrey, British Columbia, which were blockaded, when
the Emergencies Act was invoked, since, if my memory serves, that
Act was invoked on February 14 at about 4:30 p.m.

Is that correct?

Mr. François Daigle: Yes, we were concerned about the border.
As well, our American colleagues were wondering what was going
on at the border.

[English]

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Just continuing on the theme of the test,
I see that the Canada Gazette refers back to section 17 of the Emer‐
gencies Act, subsection 17(1) in particular. Can you elaborate on
how subsection 17(1) interacts with section 3 in order to complete
that test?

Subsection 17(1) states, “When the Governor in Council be‐
lieves, on reasonable grounds, that a public order emergency ex‐
ists”, and it continues to say what may be done in those circum‐
stances. Could you please explain to the committee the reasonable
grounds test, and how you view it?

[Translation]

Mr. François Daigle: First, this is an emergencies law, which
implies that there is an emergency.

[English]

The government will have to react quickly. Reasonable grounds
doesn't mean that you don't need evidence beyond a reasonable
doubt. As long as the evidence that you have provides reasonable
grounds that an emergency exists, and that emergency is described
in section 3, that then allows the government to take some measures
to deal with the emergency and to amend them later on.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you.

I am affording at the end of rounds time for the witnesses to
complete the answer for the benefit of the committee.

We will now go to the four-minute round.
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[Translation]

Senator Carignan, the floor is yours.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): I haven't had my turn to

speak, Mr. Chair.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): I'm sorry.

[English]

At least you were in good company. We both would have missed
the round.

Monsieur Fortin.
[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Daigle, you said earlier that you were a lawyer and you had
meetings on several occasions. Before the emergency measures
were proclaimed, were you consulted in connection with the laws
and regulations in force that could have been used to put an end to
the blockades?

Mr. François Daigle: We were consulted about various situa‐
tions. For example, we were consulted when the police tried to
move a truck, when there were children in it. The police could not
use their powers to move the truck, because there was a dangerous
situation.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Mr. Daigle, I'm sorry to
interrupt you. I know it's rude, but my speaking time is just three
minutes and one of them is already up.

Could the Ontario Highway Traffic Act have been used during
the protests?

Could all the laws in force have been used to end the blockades?
That was done in Windsor and elsewhere, for example.

Mr. François Daigle: Yes, we consulted the Criminal Code. The
RCMP and the other police forces also referred to it and tried to en‐
force it. We also spoke with Ontario to find out the extent to which
the Highway Traffic Act could or couldn't be enforced.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Why could it not be en‐
forced?

Mr. François Daigle: In light of what we saw, it was very diffi‐
cult to enforce it.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Why?
Mr. François Daigle: You would have to ask them, because I

wasn't told why they weren't able to do it.

I gave you the example of the truck that was parked where it
shouldn't be and when an attempt was made to move it. When the
police approached the truck, they saw that there were children in‐
side it. Ultimately, they couldn't move the truck.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): In Ontario, are there laws
that allow children to be taken into care, to get them out or...

Mr. François Daigle: Yes, but we were surprised by the situa‐
tion. So a new plan had to be developed.

When the police returned to the location, they were accompanied
by children's services representatives.

● (1945)

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): So it was possible to do it
without the emergency proclamation.

Mr. François Daigle: Up to February 14, it had still not been
done.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): It had not been done. I un‐
derstand that, and that is what we saw. I agree with you. However,
it would have been possible.

In your opinion, was the proclamation of emergency measures
necessary? Would there not have been a way to resolve the situation
under the laws in force, the Criminal Code, the Highway Traffic
Act, and so on?

Mr. François Daigle: As I said at the outset, the test isn't about
whether it is necessary...

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Yes, that is what the test
consists of. Was it necessary?

Section 3 of the Act states that the Act can be used “[if it] cannot
be effectively dealt with under any other law of Canada.” In your
opinion, it was not possible to put an end to the blockade other than
with the emergency measures proclamation. Is that correct?

Mr. François Daigle: It's not that it couldn't be done, it's that it
wasn't being done effectively, to use the words in the text of the
Act.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): In the Act, it doesn't talk
about what is effective, but what can be done.

Mr. François Daigle: The word “effectively” is used in the Act.
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you.

Monsieur Fortin, could I relinquish the chair to you for three
minutes?
[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): The floor is yours,
Mr. Green.
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Through you, I'm go‐
ing to pick up your line of questioning, in fact.

We've talked about existing laws, but I think what I haven't got‐
ten enough information about is the effectiveness, or the ineffec‐
tiveness, of the municipal and provincial declarations of emergen‐
cy.

In your assessment or in your deliberations on invoking the
Emergencies Act, was it determined that the emergency orders is‐
sued by the City of Ottawa and the Province of Ontario had been
ineffective?

Mr. François Daigle: They were in effect. Yes.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): In terms of what was

made available, I particularly feel like the province got let off the
hook on this one. When you were doing your assessments, what ar‐
eas did the provincial emergency act fall short in? It's something
that I haven't fully contemplated. What was the difference there?
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Mr. François Daigle: What we looked at, when we looked at the
Ontario emergency and the city's emergency and the injunctions,
was that we didn't look at what just Ontario was doing. We were
looking at what was happening across the country in every
province. Some other provinces took measures under their emer‐
gency acts. In New Brunswick, for example, they took some mea‐
sures under their emergency act—

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): If I could, though, with
specificity, we're in Ontario. The nation's capital is being occupied.
Doug Ford moves an emergency act and then ostensibly does noth‐
ing for weeks. What powers did they claim under that act that
failed, and why didn't the municipality of Ottawa consider, as our
committee colleague Mr. White had suggested, using the aid to civil
power avenue, through which they could have provided the powers
for towing away the trucks and everything else?

Mr. François Daigle: I'd have to go back and look at the Ontario
order, but I think mostly it significantly increased some fines. I
think they were having, from what I saw, difficulty applying fines
in Ontario, and it didn't seem to get people out of there.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): How does one have
difficulty applying fines?

Mr. François Daigle: They weren't making a difference. People
were not leaving.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Were they writing the
fines?

Mr. François Daigle: I don't have a list of what the Ontario gov‐
ernment did or what the Ottawa Police Service did, but I know that
a lot of charges have been laid and are still before the courts.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Did your department
consider the aid to civil power as a possible outcome that would not
require the Emergencies Act?

Mr. François Daigle: That would not be something the Depart‐
ment of Justice would be considering. It would be something that
another minister of the Crown would be considering.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): I look forward to hav‐
ing them before us so that I can put that question to them.

Thank you very much.
Mr. Glen Motz: Mr. Chair, can I just clarify something on a

point of order?
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): I'm not the chair at the

moment. It's Mr. Fortin.
Mr. Glen Motz: Mr. Fortin, I have a point of order.

[Translation]
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Mr. Motz, you have the

floor.
[English]

Mr. Glen Motz: Mr. Green had asked Mr. Daigle whether he be‐
lieved the emergencies declared by both Ottawa and the Province
of Ontario were “ineffective”. I believe Mr. Daigle didn't hear the
question properly, because his answer was, “They were in effect.
Yes.”

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): I heard, “They were in‐
effective.”

Mr. Glen Motz: No. That's not what he said.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you for that

clarification.

Mr. Chair, through you, could I get clarity for the purposes of the
record?
[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): You have 20 seconds left,
Mr. Green.
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): I will take those 20
seconds to ask Mr. Daigle if he could please expand upon that.

Mr. François Daigle: I'm sorry. Can you repeat that?
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Do you believe the

emergencies declared by the City of Ottawa and the Province of
Ontario were ineffective?

Mr. François Daigle: Yes. I believe they were ineffective. That's
why the government had to take some extra measures.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you.

I'll relinquish the rest of my time.

Could I take the chair back?
● (1950)

[Translation]
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): I will relinquish my turn

to you, Mr. Chair.
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you.

I will now pass it on to Senator Carignan for three minutes.
[Translation]

I'm sorry.
[English]

Hon. Claude Carignan: Thank you.
[Translation]

I'm going to go back to my series of questions about seizure.
What you are saying is that because there was no dispossession of
property or money, and the money stayed in the bank accounts,
there was no seizure. Is that correct?

Mr. François Daigle: Yes, that's what I said.
Hon. Claude Carignan: You know that if your lawyers say that

in the Supreme Court, they're going to give you a hard time, right?
Mr. François Daigle: If the case gets to the Supreme Court...
Hon. Claude Carignan: It's going to get there, and you're going

to have a hard time.

The other thing you mentioned, to say that it wasn't a seizure, is
that it wasn't you who seized the money, it was the bank that froze
it. Is that right?

Mr. François Daigle: Yes, that's right. It was the banks that did
the... It was the banks that froze the accounts.
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Hon. Claude Carignan: Careful, don't say “seized”!
Mr. François Daigle: No.
Hon. Claude Carignan: When a bank freezes or seizes an ac‐

count, don't you think it is acting as an agent of the state?
Mr. François Daigle: The order creates an obligation for the

bank and the bank makes its decision. It's in its discretion to act or
not act, based on the information it has.

Hon. Claude Carignan: Once again, that's going to be very dif‐
ficult in the Supreme Court, I'm telling you.

When I look at the order on financial products, I'm trying to find
a financial product that would not be covered. You said it was mea‐
sured, it was not excessive, and it was reasonable. What are the fi‐
nancial products that could not have been frozen? I'm trying to find
one that couldn't be seized, and I haven't found anything.

Mr. François Daigle: I'm going to ask my colleague Ms. Aitken
to answer your question.
[English]

Ms. Jenifer Aitken (Acting Assistant Deputy Minister, Cen‐
tral Agencies Portfolio, Department of Justice): I think I could
give you an example in the order with respect to insurance policies.
The order says they are not to be frozen except for insurance poli‐
cies that apply to motor vehicles, participating or being used in ille‐
gal protests or blockades.
[Translation]

Hon. Claude Carignan: Do you have any others?
[English]

Ms. Jenifer Aitken: Otherwise, there is a list of financial ser‐
vices. I don't have any other exceptions, but that was one I wanted
to provide.
[Translation]

Hon. Claude Carignan: Right. So all other products were cov‐
ered by a seizure.
[English]

Ms. Jenifer Aitken: They are services provided by the list of en‐
tities that are in section 3 of the order.
[Translation]

Hon. Claude Carignan: Right.

How was it reasonable to seize virtually everything that moves in
an individual's financial products?
[English]

Ms. Jenifer Aitken: It's not seizing. It's freezing, and it is only
applicable to designated persons as they're defined in the order,
which are persons participating in illegal activities.

The financial institutions had an ongoing obligation to review the
situation, and if they found somebody was no longer participating,
they were to stop the freezing.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you.

Unfortunately, Senator Carignan—

[Translation]
Hon. Claude Carignan: Are you familiar with the decision in

Quebec (Attorney General) v. Laroche?

[English]
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Senator Carignan—

[Translation]
Hon. Claude Carignan: Did you say you're familiar with it?

I have now asked the question twice, and I can't get an answer.
Ms. Rachel Bendayan: You should ask the question at the start.

[English]
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): She's not wrong.

[Translation]
Hon. Claude Carignan: Because it's law, I assume they are fa‐

miliar with it.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): It's rare [Inaudible—Edi‐

tor] Supreme Court in questions.
Hon. Claude Carignan: I wouldn't want to be their lawyer in

the Supreme Court.

[English]
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Let's try to keep all the

editorial comments regarding staff to a minimum if we could.

We will now pass the floor to Senator Boniface for three min‐
utes.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Thank you again for
being here.

I wanted to look a little closer, following the invocation to the
point of revocation. I'll make an assumption, and you can confirm
for me whether my assumption is correct. I assume the group of
deputy ministers and others that met would have met on a daily ba‐
sis, if not more regularly.
● (1955)

Mr. François Daigle: Yes, and we continued to be debriefed on
what was happening on the ground.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): One of the questions
that was referred to in terms of the RCMP providing the informa‐
tion to your table.... I appreciate that's the federal police providing
to the federal government. Would it be fair to also conclude that the
RCMP would be gathering information as part of its role to gather
information from other agencies across the country as to who may
have been involved in these blockades, or collecting intelligence in
relation to these blockades?

Mr. François Daigle: That was my understanding. You can ask
the question of the RCMP. I do know that they were very engaged
and were working directly with the OPP and the Ottawa Police Ser‐
vice.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): I assume also they
worked with any other jurisdictions that weren't RCMP in other
parts of the country like the Windsor police, for instance.
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Mr. François Daigle: Yes, and they engaged with the police in
Alberta. As I said earlier, they were in touch with Sûreté du Québec
and with the OPP.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Thank you.

I'd like to talk a little bit about the point of revocation or the facts
that led up to the point of revocation.

Can you enlighten us in terms of process? I realize you won't
give us legal advice and I appreciate that, but what's the process
that led you to the revocation? At least some of us were in the
Senate listening to speeches when it took place.

Mr. François Daigle: The process was getting regular briefings
as to what was happening on the ground. Once we received advice
that things were under control and that local police forces could
manage with their existing authorities, the government considered
then whether it was time to revoke the orders.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Particularly with the
Ontario emergency declaration, can you advise about those discus‐
sions? Is it your sense that there's a limit to the Ontario legislation
itself? Was that one of the factors that would have played into it?

I'm trying to understand, too, Mr. Motz's point or others' in terms
of the Ontario emergency.

Mr. François Daigle: I think the Ontario's emergency act is pret‐
ty broad and allows for a number of things. They took the orders
they took under the emergency act.

When you look at emergency legislation across the country, it's
very different from province to province. B.C.'s for example deals
mostly with natural disasters, or I think only with natural disasters,
so they would have been in a difficult situation had they had to rely
on their emergencies powers to deal with something like this.

We looked at the emergency legislation across the country.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you.

I would like to thank our guests for joining us this evening. This
is the end of the first round. At this time, we will suspend briefly in
order to set up the next panel.

I declare this meeting suspended.
● (1955)

_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (2005)

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): This meeting is re‐
sumed.

I will recognize Mr. Virani.
Mr. Arif Virani: Thank you.

I have a very brief point of order on something that was raised by
Monsieur Fortin in the previous panel. It was the notion of the ap‐
plication of solicitor-client privilege to Crown lawyers or Depart‐
ment of Justice lawyers.

Just for the committee's edification, there is a case citation that I
can provide, the case of the R. v. Campbell, 1999, 1 SCR 565,
where the Supreme Court establishes quite clearly that solicitor-

client privilege also applies to Department of Justice lawyers pro‐
viding advice.

There is also a reference in Watson and McGowan, pages 1078
and 1079.

I just thought the committee should have that for its benefit.
Thank you.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): That will be taken into
consideration for future decisions.

Mr. Arif Virani: Thank you.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you very much.

At this time, we have with us here today, between 8 p.m. and
9:30 p.m., representatives from the Department of Public Safety
and Emergency Preparedness. We have Mr. Rob Stewart, deputy
minister. We have Dominic Rochon, senior assistant deputy minis‐
ter, national security and cybersecurity branch; and we have Talal
Dakalbab, assistant deputy minister, crime prevention branch.

You will be given five minutes for opening remarks.

I believe, Mr. Stewart, you'll be providing those opening re‐
marks.

I'll just tell you now that when we get into our rounds of ques‐
tioning, as you may have heard in previous rounds, it is within the
purview of the committee members to direct and determine their
time. If they ask you to move on to the next question, it's certainly
nothing personal. You may hear me interject and say thank you to
either wrap up the round or to move you on to the next topic.

With that being said, Mr. Stewart, the floor is yours for five min‐
utes.

Mr. Rob Stewart (Deputy Minister, Department of Public
Safety and Emergency Preparedness): Thank you, and thank you
for having us here.

I'm here today in follow-up to the presentation to this committee
by Minister Mendicino to provide support for the study of the pub‐
lic order emergency and the role the Emergencies Act played in
bringing it to a conclusion.

My presentation will focus on my role as the deputy minister of
Public Safety in the following areas. First, I will address our under‐
standing of the nature of the threats leading to the invocation of the
Emergencies Act. Second will be how the Emergencies Act facili‐
tated law enforcement actions, and third is the role we played in
communication and coordination with provinces, territories and
municipalities.

[Translation]

The public emergency in January and February 1922 was rooted
in a movement centred on anti-government sentiments connected
with the public health response to the COVID‑19 pandemic.
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[English]

At that time, participants in protests and blockades in the nation's
capital and at strategic ports of entry adopted tactics that disrupted
the peace, impacted the Canadian economy and engendered nation‐
al security risks. This included aggressive protest tactics, threaten‐
ing behaviour, slowing down traffic and creating traffic jams, in
particular, near ports of entry.

The freedom and well-being of citizens was negatively impacted,
and businesses were forced to close either due to safety concerns or
due to the disruption in the flow of goods and services through
blocked ports of entry.

We also observed that convoys of large trucks, which were grow‐
ing in terms of both size and number, were manifesting unpre‐
dictably around the country. In many locations, the protest moved
beyond a peaceful threshold and became illegal, giving rise to a
volatile and unpredictable environment at the protest sites, with an
assessed potential to mobilize to violence.

Broadly speaking, and crucially, information about what was
happening within protest groups was not easy to obtain. While
CSIS did not identify specific IMVE threats, ideologically motived
violent extremism threats, we were aware that some extremist sup‐
porters were seeking to link their causes to these protests.

I want to emphasize that CSIS does not investigate, as the direc‐
tor has testified, lawful advocacy, protest or dissent, except when it
is carried out in conjunction with activities that constitute a threat
to the security of Canada.

That said, assessments provided in a public unclassified space by
the integrated threat assessment centre on ideologically motivated
violent extremism helped inform our understanding of the complex
and evolving nature of the threat environment, one that was spurred
by misinformation and harmful rhetoric. It also pointed to the po‐
tential for lone actors to find an opportunity within protests—an en‐
vironment in which determined, disaffected individuals could cause
harm in a very short amount of time.
● (2010)

[Translation]

There was also a fear that the measures taken by the police
would run up against firm and determined opposition that could
cause problems and greater instability.
[English]

The reasons for issuing the declaration of a public order emer‐
gency were set in the public document of explanation pursuant to
section 58, as has been mentioned to this committee.

Furthermore, the Houses of Parliament were provided with the
consultations document. These documents highlight that, between
the end of January and February 14, the escalation of the threat
across the country had been regularly communicated with and by
PTs and police of jurisdiction to the federal government. They re‐
quested the federal government's action in supporting police of ju‐
risdiction to address the threat.

Officials from Public Safety, I and my colleagues, engaged with
provincial, territorial and municipal partners on multiple occasions

on topics ranging from additional support for law enforcement to
reduce illegal crowd gathering to increasing powers to manage the
convoys, including infractions, fines, enforcement regimes, tow
trucks and possible deployment of additional RCMP materiel and
human resources.

[Translation]

That is the context in which the Emergencies Act was invoked in
mid-February.

[English]

The act provided tools to bolster law enforcement powers such as
access to tow trucks to end the blockades. The act also provided
tools to deter the continuing of illegal protests and restore public
order such as the prohibition on public assembly and the economic
measures on convoy financing.

Within the federal government, Public Safety Canada, the Cana‐
dian Security Intelligence Service, the Canada Border Services
Agency, Justice Canada, Royal Canadian Mounted Police and
Transport Canada all played central roles.

Through the three weeks of this crisis, we communicated and co‐
ordinated closely with other partners. Collaboration with provincial
and territorial counterparts took place through an already-estab‐
lished ADM-level FPT committee, the crime prevention and polic‐
ing committee, as well as through conversations I had with my
provincial deputy minister counterparts. In addition, as deputy min‐
ister, I engaged with the City of Ottawa manager, the RCMP, the
Ontario Provincial Police, the Ottawa Police Service leaders and
provincial deputy minister counterparts.

In conclusion, the Emergencies Act was invoked in a volatile en‐
vironment with potential risk to national security across Canada,
taking into account the view and advice of many stakeholders.

I look forward to your questions.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you.

We will begin the opening round with Mr. Motz.

Mr. Motz, you have the floor for five minutes, sir.

Mr. Glen Motz: Thank you, Chair.

Again, before my time starts, like I asked or suggested to the Jus‐
tice officials, thank you very much for—

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): I'm not sure if that's a
thing.

Mr. Glen Motz: —being here in person. We really appreciate
your doing that. It means a lot.
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I'm going to read you two quotes from your minister: “At the
recommendation of police, we invoked the Emergencies Act to pro‐
tect Canadians”. That's quote number one. Quote number two is,
“the invocation of the Emergencies Act...was only put forward after
police officials told us they needed this special power”.

We have heard from police officials at this committee and at oth‐
er committees in this Parliament. To date, none of them have indi‐
cated that they asked for the invocation of the Emergencies Act, so
who asked for it?

Mr. Rob Stewart: My understanding is that there is a misunder‐
standing of the minister's words. The minister was—

Mr. Glen Motz: That's obvious.
Mr. Rob Stewart: —alluding to the fact that police were con‐

sulted and were—not just in the case of the RCMP but other po‐
lice—indicating, as was discussed in the prior session, that their
powers were not effective and they, therefore, asked for more pow‐
ers.

Mr. Glen Motz: That's fair enough.

You indicated during your introduction that you led some of
those consultations with the RCMP, with the OPP, with Ottawa and
others. Did you brief the minister on those consultations?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes, and in some cases, he was involved.
Mr. Glen Motz: Okay, he was there. Can you provide copies of

the notes taken in those consultations?
Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes.
Mr. Glen Motz: Thank you.

Do you have briefing notes separate from the conversations with
law enforcement? You said you met with the City of Ottawa offi‐
cials separately from police. Do you have those as well?

Mr. Rob Stewart: I personally have no notes, but we have
records of consultations that we undertook in conversation.
● (2015)

Mr. Glen Motz: Thank you. I appreciate that.

In your recollection, do you recall if there was ever any informa‐
tion given to the minister as fact that was later proven to be untrue,
which may have influenced his decision to invoke the Emergencies
Act?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Which may have been untrue...?
Mr. Glen Motz: No, which was proven later to be untrue, that

maybe influenced his decision to invoke the Emergencies Act.
Mr. Rob Stewart: Not to my knowledge.
Mr. Glen Motz: Okay, because he was at committee early on

and was still talking like the arson in the apartment building was
tied to the protest and the Ottawa Police have made it very clear
that it was not. That's one of the instances I'm referring to.

Whose decision was it, ultimately, Mr. Stewart, that the threshold
between peaceful protest and a state of emergency was met?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Who was responsible for that?
Mr. Glen Motz: Yes.
Mr. Rob Stewart: The cabinet.

Mr. Glen Motz: The cabinet was. Obviously they got advice
from somebody.

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes.

Mr. Glen Motz: Would that have been the consultations with
law enforcement, or would that have been from other officials?

Mr. Rob Stewart: It was a whole range of sources, but included
the ones you mentioned.

Mr. Glen Motz: Okay. Obviously the information you relied up‐
on, those documents, will be made available to this committee?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Issues of cabinet confidence are subject to the
determination of the Prime Minister so I can't provide a view on
that at this time.

Mr. Glen Motz: Fair enough. Of course, they can be provided.
The redactions are a different story. Thank you.

You indicate that at the cabinet table, there were obviously offi‐
cials, government officials there. Were there law enforcement offi‐
cials there besides Commissioner Lucki?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Again, it would be a cabinet confidence, I be‐
lieve, to discuss who was in the room.

Mr. Glen Motz: Commissioner Lucki has already said that
she—

Mr. Rob Stewart: She was party to discussions with ministers.

Mr. Glen Motz: At that point, who should be providing opin‐
ions? You said there were people there advising the cabinet to make
that decision, but who do you think should have been there? I guess
my question really should be, were the right people in the room to
make that decision, to advise cabinet before the Emergencies Act
was actually invoked?

Mr. Rob Stewart: As you know, sir, the Emergencies Act was
invoked some time after the blockades began and over the course of
the two-plus weeks that they were in effect, we were gathering a lot
of information and doing a lot of consultation.

Mr. Glen Motz: It was the cabinet's decision to invoke the act.
How long before it was actually invoked on the 14th of February
did the cabinet make that decision?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Not long.

Mr. Glen Motz: A day, a week, hours...?

Mr. Rob Stewart: It was not long before. It was made over the
course of the weekend.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you.

We will now pass the floor over to Mr. Naqvi for five minutes.

Mr. Naqvi, sir, the floor is yours.

Mr. Yasir Naqvi: Thank you, Chair, and through you, thank you
to the deputy and the ADMs for being here today.
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I'm from Ottawa. I represent the riding that was under occupation
for three weeks. I saw the mayhem, the chaos, the aggression to‐
wards people who live in this community and the many businesses
that were shuttered as a result of it. I want to try to get a sense from
you, from the inside, as that protest grew into an occupation and
there did not seem to be an end in sight, what was the level of activ‐
ity within the government to understand and grasp the nature of
things that were happening on the ground here in Ottawa, for in‐
stance?

Mr. Rob Stewart: We were, for the most part, operating in con‐
sultation with the Ottawa police, who, in the context of the protests,
were the people who were on the ground amidst the trucks and who
had liaison teams talking to protesters.

Mr. Yasir Naqvi: Was there fairly regular and constant interac‐
tion with Ottawa police, for instance, during that whole period?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes. The RCMP was part of an integrated de‐
cision centre ultimately, but even before that, it was very closely
consulting with the Ottawa police.

Mr. Yasir Naqvi: Did that interaction involve the sharing of in‐
formation, and of course I'm not talking about operational issues
but as to the nature of the protests, some of the challenges in man‐
aging that particular protest?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Absolutely.
Mr. Yasir Naqvi: During those conversations with the Ottawa

police, for instance, or the RCMP or in case of, let's say, Coutts and
Windsor, with the OPP as well, was there, over time, an under‐
standing of where the gaps were in terms of what was required to
put an end to these blockades and occupations?
● (2020)

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes, there was an appreciation of the fact that
law enforcement was struggling, in particular in Ottawa, to enforce
the law—and I believe the former chief of police readily admits
that—because of the unprecedented nature of the protest, but we al‐
so learned, through the CBSA, of our challenges of enforcing the
law on access to the border.

Mr. Yasir Naqvi: I'm trying to understand the question that is of‐
ten asked regarding whether a particular police service asked for
the invocation of the Emergencies Act, even though there is no re‐
quirement in the act or a necessity for that ask. When I look at the
order and the regulations, I see very precise powers that have been
given to law enforcement. They were all utilized, and that resulted
in the end of blockades and occupation. I'm trying to understand
how that list was derived.

My impression is that through those engagements and conversa‐
tions, the government got a better sense of where the gaps may
have been that were not sufficiently met with existing laws, and the
invocation of the Emergencies Act was used to fill those gaps.

Mr. Rob Stewart: That's absolutely correct. For example, police
forces across the country, and particularly in Alberta, Manitoba and
Ottawa, were having trouble getting tow trucks to help them en‐
force the law. The removal of the need to swear in RCMP mem‐
bers, so that they could come to Ottawa and join the force here, was
also one of the measures that was specifically suggested.

Mr. Yasir Naqvi: Was there a fair bit of thought provided when
decisions were being made as to what powers should be granted in

terms of having a very surgical approach to what was necessary to
find an end to the blockades and the occupation?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes.
Mr. Yasir Naqvi: As that approach was being developed, was

there a fair bit of conversation with law enforcement authorities,
like the Ottawa police, the Windsor police, the OPP and the RCMP,
to determine whether the federal government was on the right track
to give them the powers they needed?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes.
Mr. Yasir Naqvi: There was a clear understanding from them, I

take it, by the action that was taken post-February 14, that this was
the case, and it that would be sufficient.

Mr. Rob Stewart: The federal government was acting in the
context of what was deemed to be a public order emergency, where
the powers at the national level were not sufficient. The expectation
was that the actions taken under the act would be what was helpful
to stop the protests and deter further protests.

Mr. Yasir Naqvi: Leading up to the invocation of the Emergen‐
cies Act, was there frustration on the part of the federal public ser‐
vice, or others you were communicating with, with the lack of ac‐
tion or the lack of capacity to put an end to this occupation by other
governments, like the provincial government?

Mr. Rob Stewart: I would tend to agree that in Ottawa there was
intense frustration. Elsewhere, there was a sense of unexpectedness,
in the sense that we were dealing with a situation—and I want to
emphasize this point—where we didn't know where the next protest
was going to happen and we weren't able to have the intelligence,
through police channels or social media, that would give us a good
sense of that.

We had demonstrations pop up and rolling protests involving
large trucks, potentially impairing access to critical infrastructure.
For us, it was in part what we knew, but also in part what we didn't
know, and that was coming across.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you.

[Translation]

Mr. Fortin, the floor is yours for five minutes.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I'd also like to thank the three witnesses for being with us today.

My questions are for Mr. Stewart.

Other witnesses before you have been asked this question. Two
secret orders were made between the end of January and the end of
February. We are wondering whether that was connected with the
emergency. Are you aware of those two orders?
● (2025)

Mr. Rob Stewart: No. I have no knowledge of them.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): So that means you don't

know what they are about.
Mr. Rob Stewart: That's correct.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Right. Thank you.
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I imagine you were consulted before the Emergencies Act was
proclaimed and you were consulted after that as the situation pro‐
gressed.

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): In your opinion, at the

time of the proclamation, was there really an emergency, as defined
in the Emergencies Act?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Having an opinion is not part of my role. I
give the minister advice.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Nonetheless, you are the
Deputy Minister of Public Safety.

Was this the first time you had to manage this kind of situation,
with protests and the occupation of a public place?

Mr. Rob Stewart: It was the first time we had seen a protest this
serious and this long in which the law could not be enforced.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): In your opinion, was it not
possible to put an end to the situation or even prevent it from hap‐
pening under the laws in force in Canada, whether it be the Crimi‐
nal Code, the Highway Traffic Act, or any other law in force in On‐
tario, particularly in Ottawa?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes, it was done in other cities that learned
lessons from the situation in Ottawa and were able to prevent occu‐
pations.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): We all followed the situa‐
tion, although without participating in the decisions, when the po‐
lice decided to clear Wellington Street. It took about three days, I
believe.

The police arrived and cleared everybody out. I may be wrong,
but I didn't have the impression that they used special powers other
than the normal powers that all police have.

To your knowledge, was there something done at that time that
could not have been done without proclaiming an emergency?

Mr. Rob Stewart: The proclamation helped Ottawa police take
measures, particularly concerning tow trucks.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Does the Ontario High‐
way Traffic Act not already provide for the possibility of towing
vehicles when they impede the public highway?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes, but we needed the cooperation of the tow
truck drivers.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Do the police not have the
power to force tow truck drivers to tow vehicles?

Mr. Rob Stewart: No.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Do police forces not have

tow trucks?

Is that not part of a police force's equipment?
Mr. Rob Stewart: No.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): No police officer in

Canada has control of a tow truck?
Mr. Rob Stewart: I don't know. At least, there would not have

been enough tow trucks.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Was the question looked
into before the emergency was proclaimed?

Mr. Rob Stewart: We consulted all the provinces and a lot of
municipalities.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Are there no tow trucks
among the army's equipment?

Mr. Rob Stewart: It doesn't have enough tow trucks of the mod‐
el that was needed.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Right.

And yet when it was done, when it was decided to clear Welling‐
ton Street, tow trucks for towing the trucks away were found.

Was that really the problem? Was the Emergencies Act pro‐
claimed simply because no tow trucks could be found?

Mr. Rob Stewart: No, that wasn't the only reason. It is just an
example.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): What situation could not
have been resolved properly using the laws in force, including the
Criminal Code and the Highway Traffic Act?

What situations could not have been resolved with the legislative
tools that are in force?

Mr. Rob Stewart: There were several. It was obvious that the
police needed more powers. I gave you an example. There is also
access to additional resources. Here in Ottawa, we requested
100 police officers.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): What resources are you
talking about?

What was missing, apart from tow trucks, to end the protest?
Mr. Rob Stewart: I could give you other examples.

In the situation in Ottawa in particular, but also elsewhere, we
were having trouble deterring people who wanted to participate in
the protests. The powers relating to economic measures were in ad‐
dition to the powers of the police.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): That was preventive, to
avoid...
● (2030)

[English]
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you.

[Translation]
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Stewart.

[English]
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): I will now pass the

floor over to you, Mr. Fortin, for my round of five minutes.

Mr. Stewart, I want to thank you for your candour and your an‐
swers today.

I want to get a sense in terms of timelines.
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At what point in time did you first become aware there was the
potential for an occupation in Ottawa and a national-stage convoy?

Mr. Rob Stewart: I think the origin of the situation was in late
January. The “freedom convoy” was mobilizing and crossing the
country. When it arrived in Ottawa shortly thereafter, we realized it
might not be a one-day event. At the same time, borders began to
be blocked out west.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Would that have been
pursuant to the reports from the integrated terrorism assessment
centre?

Mr. Rob Stewart: No, the integrated terrorism assessment cen‐
tre was strictly looking at the potential for violent extremism.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): This would have been
prior to their arrival, so we would imagine the convoy was coming
toward Ottawa.

Was it the case that, from province to province, there were updat‐
ed reports about the volume of traffic related to the convoy?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): There would have been

a rough estimate of participants at the outset of their arrival in the
nation's capital.

Mr. Rob Stewart: It was very hard to know how many people
would show up in Ottawa. There were a lot of potential partici‐
pants. Not all of them showed up, but as you know, many did.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): In some of the reports
that have been made public, there's correspondence between the
National Capital Commission and the OPS, which talks about how
they hoped this would be handled.

Are you privy to those communications? Have you come across
them?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Do you mean between the NCC and OPS?
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): I mean the National

Capital Commission. I believe these were related to where cars
could park, the potential for Wellington Street, and so on and so
forth.

Mr. Rob Stewart: There were, I think, discussions between the
federal government and Ottawa police about what the Ottawa po‐
lice could do and where people could—

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Were you privy to
those conversations with the Ottawa police, prior to the arrival?

Mr. Rob Stewart: No, I was not.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): In your observation,

would it be safe to say that, when they arrived, their logistic supply
chain made them a bit of a unique outlier, in terms of direct action
against the government? This wasn't a typical protest. Is that cor‐
rect?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Absolutely. This is what gave rise to our con‐
cern about the potential for violence.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Does this include the
distribution of the fuel to trucks and include the crane with a wreck‐
ing ball in front of the PMO?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Absolutely.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): In your time, have you
ever seen anything like that?

Mr. Rob Stewart: No.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): It was reported earli‐

er.... I'll say this. This question was put to the interim and he said it
was almost normal or regular. I had never seen anything like that.

Given the unique threat presented here, were you privy to reports
that the Ottawa police were in ongoing dialogue with the convoy
and occupation, and that they were trying to broker some kind of
solution?

Mr. Rob Stewart: That is the normal course.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Is it also the normal

course to help an occupying group of people set up a base camp not
far from the city? Is that the normal course?

Mr. Rob Stewart: I can't answer that question, sir. I think the
Ottawa police—

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Are you aware that the
Ottawa police, in negotiation with the convoy, helped the convoy
set up a base camp? Are you aware of that?

Mr. Rob Stewart: I think I am, of course, through public
sources. If I were to attribute motivation to the Ottawa police, it
was to try to de-escalate the protest right from the start.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): By allowing them to
become entrenched with supply chains?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Absolutely. It turned out in a way nobody an‐
ticipated.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): If people come here
with the express purpose, under an MOU, to overthrow the govern‐
ment, and the Ottawa police set up a base camp for them off-site
and allow a logistics supply chain to develop—including fuel and
food going to and from the occupiers—would you not anticipate
they had no intention to leave?

Mr. Rob Stewart: I believe the reason for offering the Coventry
Road ballpark at the start was just as a parking lot for extra trucks. I
don't think it was anticipated they would set up a base camp.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Yet they did.
Mr. Rob Stewart: They did.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): This was municipal

property. Was it not?
Mr. Rob Stewart: I believe so, yes.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Did the municipality

have no power to evict people in a base camp that was supplying a
three-week occupation?

● (2035)

Mr. Rob Stewart: Again, from public records, I believe they did
try.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): They were unable to.
Mr. Rob Stewart: That's correct.
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The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): When we talk about
lessons learned and the unpredictable nature of things, the chal‐
lenge I have is this: Much of it seems, in retrospect, to be fairly pre‐
dictable. If we allow the trucks to refuel with petrol, as well as food
and off-site accommodations, there's a higher likelihood they will
stick around.

Would you not agree with that assessment, in retrospect?
Mr. Rob Stewart: Absolutely.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Does it not seem logi‐

cal—without needing any kind of special experience—that this
course would follow?

Mr. Rob Stewart: I still claim that it was unanticipated and un‐
precedented, but now—

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): This is the last ques‐
tion.

Would you agree it was a failure of local policing to adequately
contain and deter what was a three-week occupation of the nation's
capital?

Mr. Rob Stewart: I would say, in my own words, that it was an
inability.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): It was a failure.
Mr. Rob Stewart: It was an inability of the police to—
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): What is the difference

between inability and a failure?
Mr. Rob Stewart: A failure is how it ends.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): What is a failure?
Mr. Rob Stewart: It's how it ends.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): That's interesting.

I appreciate your candour. Thank you so much.

We will now pass the floor on to our worthy senators, beginning
with Senator Boniface.

You have five minutes.
The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Thank you very much

for being here. As Mr. Green said, we appreciate your candour on
the issue.

I would like to zero in a little bit on the role of the provinces. As
public safety deputy minister, I assume you would work through
what is known as an FPT process?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes.
The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): I would assume that

through the processes that took place over the weeks leading up to
this you would be having discussions with your counterparts in the
provinces. Is that correct?

Mr. Rob Stewart: That's correct.

Excuse me, it was I and others.
The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Yes. I appreciate that.

I'm sure having worked in government at one point or another,
there are lots of conversations taking place at lots of levels as well.

I'm most interested in, and your colleague in the previous panel
referred to it as well, the differences in the provinces' abilities to
declare emergencies and what their emergency acts particularly di‐
rect to.

Let's start with Ontario because they did, in fact, declare the
emergency. Would your discussions have been with your counter‐
part at public safety in Ontario at the deputy minister level?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Would you have with‐
in your department what we would know in various provinces as an
emergency measures group or people who deal with emergencies
that are outside the police agency?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Absolutely, we do.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Does that portfolio
fall under you at the federal level?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Can you tell me
whether or not the same exists currently in Ontario and if that
would have played a role as well?

Mr. Rob Stewart: As constructed, the EM authorities in our
government and in the Government of Ontario play primarily a role
in responding to natural disasters. In our case, Public Safety's gov‐
ernment operations centre is a coordinating unit and provides re‐
porting. Some of the documents we will be providing to the com‐
mittee will show you the role they played in making sure that ev‐
erybody was informed.

Neither they nor Ontario's EMO played any active role in man‐
aging the blockades.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Nobody from an EMO
perspective was involved in the discussion.

Mr. Rob Stewart: They were aware. As an authority for emer‐
gency management myself, I was there, but this was a policing mat‐
ter.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): I appreciate that. I un‐
derstand the context.

I'm just trying to figure out, when you create an emergency order
at a provincial level, and when you do it a broader level, it's not just
law enforcement that would be feeding the information up. I'm as‐
suming there may be other agencies within what would be the so‐
licitor general's department generally involved in that process.

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes, absolutely. In our case there were multi‐
ple agencies.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): On a follow-up to Mr.
Green's question, in terms of the role of the Ottawa police and how
they may have assessed or not assessed the situation, they would
probably be the best witness to be able to put that forward to us,
given that they would have all the information including the infor‐
mation on which they relied on a day-to-day basis.

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes. I would agree.
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The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): With respect to the
emergency order within Ontario as an example, when you look at
the capacity of the provincial order and in reflection, do you see
that there's a disconnect between the emergency capacity for orders
in a province versus the federal level?

From an FPT process, would you be thinking about this going
forward in terms of how they link together or create gaps between
the two?
● (2040)

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes. I believe this experience has given us all
grounds for reflection on the structure and the nature of our emer‐
gency acts.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): That's because some
of what you said would be that the design is more for natural disas‐
ters and not for public order.

Mr. Rob Stewart: Structures inside government are more for
that. The emergency acts are probably a little more generic in terms
of how they could be applied as acts.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): It's clear that the
province took the position that it was beyond their capacity as a
province, despite the fact that there's a provincial police service and
a multitude of municipal forces within the province.

Mr. Rob Stewart: The emergencies order in Ontario—which
was obviously invoked shortly before the federal order—primarily
attempted to clear critical infrastructure. I have noted that we found
in the law that we don't have enough power to protect critical in‐
frastructure.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Right, but particularly
to protect critical infrastructure, you would need a certain capacity
within police agencies to be able to do that. Is that how you would
see it, in terms of the capacity?

Mr. Rob Stewart: In the event...but there is the issue of deter‐
rence as well.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Yes.

Thank you.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you.

We will now move on to Monsieur Carignan.
[Translation]

The floor is yours for five minutes.
Hon. Claude Carignan: My question will be about the blockade

that took place on the Ambassador Bridge. The President of the
United States called the Prime Minister of Canada a few days be‐
fore the bridge was opened.

Did the request from the President of the United States reach
your ears?

Mr. Rob Stewart: No, but we spoke with people from the Amer‐
ican government.

Hon. Claude Carignan: Right. What did they ask you for?
Mr. Rob Stewart: They didn't ask for anything. They offered

support for...
Hon. Claude Carignan: What did they offer?

Mr. Rob Stewart: They offered tow trucks.
Hon. Claude Carignan: Right. Did you accept them?
Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes, I think so, but I don't know the details of

the process for ending the protest.
Hon. Claude Carignan: Right.

Did they offer tow trucks because the Prime Minister of Canada
had told the President of the United States that our problem was
that we didn't have any?

Mr. Rob Stewart: The problem was that we weren't able to
move all the people and all the trucks.

Hon. Claude Carignan: Right. The United States offered you
tow trucks.

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes.
Hon. Claude Carignan: Were they American tow trucks that

came to tow Canadian vehicles away?
Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes.
Hon. Claude Carignan: Right. At that time, however, the Emer‐

gencies Act had not yet been invoked.
Mr. Rob Stewart: No.
Hon. Claude Carignan: Right.

Apart from the tow trucks issue, did you take part in the deci‐
sion-making process for reopening the Ambassador Bridge?

Mr. Rob Stewart: No. It was a police operation.
Hon. Claude Carignan: What police force was it?
Mr. Rob Stewart: It was the Ontario Provincial Police.
Hon. Claude Carignan: Right.

Did it work with the Windsor Police Service?
Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes.
Hon. Claude Carignan: Did it work with the RCMP?
Mr. Rob Stewart: No.
Hon. Claude Carignan: The RCMP was not involved?
Mr. Rob Stewart: A little, yes. We received a request for assis‐

tance from the mayor of Windsor, but I think most of the police of‐
ficers who participated in the operation belonged to the Ontario
Provincial Police.

Hon. Claude Carignan: Right.

Did the dismantling go well?
Mr. Rob Stewart: I believe so.
Hon. Claude Carignan: What is the difference between the op‐

eration of reopening the Ambassador Bridge and the one that took
place here to unfreeze Wellington Street, we might say, apart from
the call from the President of the United States and the fact that it
was an international bridge?
● (2045)

Mr. Rob Stewart: You want to know the difference...
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Hon. Claude Carignan: Yes. Except for the use of the Ameri‐
can tow trucks that came to tow the trucks, what were the different
powers that made it possible to resolve the situation there and that
could not be exercised on Wellington Street? In fact, I still can't be‐
lieve that Canada requested help from American tow trucks, but it
seems to be true. I understand that there were barbecues and even a
hot tub to be moved, on Wellington Street, and that might have
called for different methods, in logistical terms.

What was different in the case of the Ambassador Bridge?
Mr. Rob Stewart: I'm not an expert on police operations, I'm a

public servant. I think the protest in Ottawa was on a larger scale
and more powers and tools were needed to move all the people and
trucks.

Hon. Claude Carignan: What tools are you talking about?
Mr. Rob Stewart: I'm talking about Canadian tow trucks and

over 2,000 police officers.
Hon. Claude Carignan: But that's not a problem. You don't

need the Emergencies Act to get more police.

Do you remember how many police you had at the Summit of
the Americas? There were a lot more.

Mr. Rob Stewart: Here, the issue was assembling the police re‐
sources to execute the plan that had been made by Ottawa police. It
called for moving a number of members of the Royal Canadian
Mounted Police to Ottawa. It had to be done fairly quickly, and that
is almost always a problem...

Hon. Claude Carignan: Right, but the Emergencies Act didn't
offer anything extra...
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you.
[Translation]

Hon. Claude Carignan: Mr. Fortin was gentle with you.
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): It's not a different set
of five minutes, unfortunately.

We will now move on to Senator Harder.

Senator Harder, you have five minutes, sir, and the floor is yours.
Hon. Peter Harder: Thanks very much, Chair.

Deputy Minister Stewart and officials, welcome. We appreciate
your testimony here tonight.

I want to go back to some of the questioning that Mr. Green initi‐
ated with respect to your perspective on the events leading up to the
invocation of the emergency measures.

Earlier tonight we heard your colleague Deputy Daigle say that
the events exceeded the capacity of the jurisdictions in play at the
time. That's referred to in section 58 of the measure itself.

When did you come to the view with your colleagues that this
was in a sense a collective judgment as to where things were going
in this, what you describe as, unprecedented and unpredictable set
of circumstances?

Mr. Rob Stewart: When did we come to that view?

Hon. Peter Harder: Was it Valentine's Day or some time in ad‐
vance of that?

Mr. Rob Stewart: It was in advance of Valentine's Day.

In the course of our consultations with federal and provincial col‐
leagues and police of jurisdiction, it came to our attention that, in
some circumstances, there were a lot of challenges in terms of en‐
forcing the law. That related to the number of people who were
available to do so and, therefore, their ability to apply the laws and
the bylaws.

What we also became conscious of, and I've mentioned this be‐
fore, is the evolving nature of the protest, including the potential for
further blockades. It was in part, as I've suggested, the aim of the
act to deter those from occurring.

Hon. Peter Harder: We'll get to the invocation itself, but in the
preceding days, as the city invoked their emergency measures in
Ontario, were you in your conversations with your counterparts
urging the invocation of those emergency measures?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes.

Hon. Peter Harder: If I could ask in a more provocative fash‐
ion, why did it take so long for you to invoke the emergency mea‐
sures at the national level? It was clear for those of us observing
this on a day-to-day basis, including yourself.... It was almost two
weeks of observed circumstance where the capacity of the police to
maintain order and reduce the occupation was exceeded.

Mr. Rob Stewart: I'm tempted to say that I think we'd be under
more aggressive questioning if we'd invoked it any earlier than we
did, but the fact is that it took time to come to a full assessment of
the situation.

Hon. Peter Harder: Okay, and as you worked through from
February 14 to 23 in the daily—and I'm sure many times a day—
assessment of how things were going, did anything provoke you to
conclude that the emergency measures were not working as you
had expected? Were there surprises in the operationalizing of the
emergency measures themselves?

● (2050)

Mr. Rob Stewart: There were certainly some challenges along
the lines of implementation of the economic measures, where there
was a lot of misunderstanding as to what they were intended to do
and how they would operate. That was unexpected. Otherwise, I
think it was the opposite. We were fortuitous in having some of the
blockades at the border resolved at a similar time. As it evolved, the
situation was calmed quite quickly.

Hon. Peter Harder: Yes, I would share that observation.

My sense is that, until the invocation of the emergency measures
at the federal level, the police actions were—I would use the
phrase—a failure, and I was impressed by how quickly, once the in‐
vocation took place, the police actions were a textbook case in how
to deal with a large-scale occupation.
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I'm perplexed by the night-and-day difference between the opera‐
tion as we saw it unfold here in Ottawa, at least.

Mr. Rob Stewart: I would suggest that it was in fact surprising‐
ly non-violent when we had fears that it could become violent. I
would attribute some of that to the fact that the act was deterring
people from joining the protest.

Hon. Peter Harder: As you worked through those days, you
were not certain when the revocation would take place. Was the re‐
vocation effective as soon as the professionals managing the opera‐
tion felt it could be revoked, or were you pressured at all to revoke
early?

Mr. Rob Stewart: I can't speak to the decision itself, but I can
tell you that the advice was that the act was no longer needed.

Hon. Peter Harder: Was the decision taken right after that ad‐
vice was given?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Shortly thereafter.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you. You

squeezed a couple...but you also concede time on a frequent basis.

We will now go online to Senator Campbell.

Senator Campbell, sir, you have five minutes.
Hon. Larry W. Campbell: Thank you, Chair. I want to thank

the witness for coming today.

I want to go back to the inability leading to a failure on the part
of the police. If I can ask, how long have you been in your position
and working for Justice?

Mr. Rob Stewart: I'm working for Public Safety, sir, and I've
been in the position for two and a half years.

Hon. Larry W. Campbell: Okay, so you have some experience
there.

We continually hear, for instance, that this act was invoked be‐
cause the police could not control a situation where there were chil‐
dren. Are you aware that police virtually every day in this country
find themselves in the situation where there are children involved
and where they have to call upon resources that are outside the po‐
lice force, i.e., child care workers?

Mr. Rob Stewart: I am aware of that, sir. In the case of Ottawa,
they did have Children's Aid standing by.

Hon. Larry W. Campbell: The previous witness said we
couldn't move here because it was a dangerous situation and there
were children involved. I really think that's a red herring.

Let's move onto something else—the tow trucks. Police don't
typically have tow trucks. What they do is they have contracts with
tow truck companies and I would say in Ottawa, that contract is
probably in the million-dollar range. As a lawyer and being in Pub‐
lic Safety, would the tow truck contract not be enforceable so that
they can't just refuse to send tow trucks to a situation where they're
needed?
● (2055)

Mr. Rob Stewart: It's not just here in Ottawa, but elsewhere.
Hon. Larry W. Campbell: You're telling me that if I phone the

tow truck company as the chief of police and say, if you're not go‐

ing to do this, we're cancelling your contract and don't apply again,
there wouldn't be some action on the part of the tow truck compa‐
ny?

Mr. Rob Stewart: That's a hypothetical, sir. I would say that
what we knew and what the RCMP as the contract police in Alberta
knew was that the tow truck drivers they had under contract would
not do the work.

Hon. Larry W. Campbell: Okay. Last question, have you ever
been to Petawawa?

Mr. Rob Stewart: I have.
Hon. Larry W. Campbell: Have you ever seen the heavy equip‐

ment that they have there for moving tanks, moving heavy vehi‐
cles? They basically have an engineering division there. Have you
seen that?

Mr. Rob Stewart: No, but I think I know what you mean.
Hon. Larry W. Campbell: Why weren't they called upon?
Mr. Rob Stewart: There was a request for assistance from the

Government of Alberta for the Canadian Armed Forces' towing ca‐
pability, and it was declined on the basis that Alberta hadn't fully
used its own access to resources and also because the equipment of
the CAF was going to damage the trucks.

Hon. Larry W. Campbell: Does that make any sense to you
whatsoever? These people are breaking the law. We're in a situation
where there are guns involved. The government is considering an
emergency order, and we allow somebody to tell us, our military to
tell us, that we're not going because we don't think they've used the
resources. Is that the state that we're in here? Police cannot do their
jobs, and the military cannot do its job. Can you answer that?

Mr. Rob Stewart: I wouldn't see it the way you see it, sir. I
think, in the circumstances, the military was going to be inappropri‐
ate and insufficient. What we needed at the border at Coutts was
dozens of tow trucks for hundreds of trucks.

Hon. Larry W. Campbell: Okay. Forget the border at Coutts.
What about Petawawa? It's just down the road.

Mr. Rob Stewart: As it unfolded, the request was for the trucks
that exist at the base in the west.

Hon. Larry W. Campbell: I'm not asking about the base in the
west. We're talking about Ottawa, the national capital, under siege,
and we cannot get military tow trucks to come and tow big trucks
because we're afraid they'll be damaged. Are you serious?

Mr. Rob Stewart: I am telling you what happened.
Hon. Larry W. Campbell: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you very much.

We will now go into the second round. It will be a four-minute
round for the Conservatives and the Liberals, followed by three-
minute rounds.

We will begin with Mr. Brock.

Mr. Brock, you have four minutes, sir.
Mr. Larry Brock: Thank you, Chair.
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Thank you to the witnesses.

Mr. Stewart, I'll start off by saying that, in the words of Perrin
Beatty, extraordinary powers require extraordinary [government ac‐
countability. With all due respect to you, sir, to the questions put to
you by my colleague Mr. Motz, I do not accept your response that
Minister Mendicino did not use his words appropriately, when he's
on record as stating that law enforcement asked for the use of the
Emergencies Act. Your response was that he chose the wrong set of
words, or he was misunderstood.

Minister Mendicino is a senior government official. He's been a
member of Parliament for a significant period of time. He is a
lawyer. Words matter. He spoke in the House numerous times. He
gave speeches in the House numerous times. He responded to ques‐
tions, did press releases and went on televison. Every time he did
that, Mr. Stewart, he was consistent in his messaging that law en‐
forcement asked for the use of the Emergencies Act. Only until law
enforcement, testifying at this committee and other committees, flat
out refuted that statement did we hear a change in Minister Mendi‐
cino by stating they were consulting with law enforcement.

My question to you is this: Were you yourself responsible, or
members of your office responsible, in terms of giving Minister
Mendicino those words that law enforcement asked for the Emer‐
gencies Act on numerous occasions?

Mr. Rob Stewart: We don't script the minister, sir.

Mr. Larry Brock: Who does?

Mr. Rob Stewart: The minister speaks for himself.

Mr. Larry Brock: The minister prepares his own notes.

Mr. Rob Stewart: I do believe he was misunderstood, because
when you say “on the advice of law enforcement”, the advice does
not necessarily have to be about asking them about the act—

Mr. Larry Brock: It wasn't on the advice. Listen to my question
very carefully. He is on record—I don't have enough time to repeat
verbatim what he has stated on the record—that they asked for, law
enforcement asked for, the Emergencies Act. It was not that law en‐
forcement consulted with the government as an option to deal with
the protest, to deal with the invocation of the act. He said, they had
asked for it.

If you knew that he was misconstruing those words, why didn't
you inform Minister Mendicino to clarify that in the House or to
clarify that with the public?

● (2100)

Mr. Rob Stewart: I serve the minister, and I'm not at liberty to
discuss the advice I provide him, but I can tell you that I think he
was misunderstood. I believe the intention he was trying to express
was that law enforcement asked for the tools that were contained in
the Emergencies Act.

Mr. Larry Brock: It wasn't just Minister Mendicino who was
misconstrued or misunderstood. It was the Prime Minister. It was
Minister Blair. It was Minister Lametti. It was probably members
of the Liberal caucus, who all used that same talking point that law
enforcement asked for it.

Was the entire government misunderstood, Mr. Stewart? Canadi‐
ans want transparency here. Who is giving directions to the govern‐
ment if it's not your department?

Mr. Rob Stewart: The—

Mr. Arif Virani: Mr. Chair, on a point of order, I think this wit‐
ness is here to testify with respect to Public Safety and the advice
he would have given to Minister Mendicino—

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): He has the ability to
answer the questions. He's been doing it quite capably all meeting.

Mr. Arif Virani: I don't think that question is relevant in terms
of his expertise.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): I rule it in order. He
can answer the question.

Mr. Rob Stewart: The public service does not give direction to
the government, sir.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you, Mr. Stew‐
art.

We will now go on to Ms. Bendayan for four minutes.

Ms. Bendayan, the floor is yours.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I'll be splitting
my time with Mr. Virani.

Mr. Stewart, I'll be going quite quickly through a number of
questions. First, are you aware that the RCMP executed a search
warrant on the morning of February 14 and seized at the border at
Coutts 13 long guns, multiple handguns and sets of body armour, a
machete, a large quantity of ammunition and high-capacity maga‐
zines?

Mr. Rob Stewart: I am.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Are you aware that threats became
known to the RCMP days into the protests at Coutts, Alberta, and
that the investigation was ongoing for some time before the search
warrant was issued on February 14?

Mr. Rob Stewart: I can't speak to the specifics. I don't believe
they knew for very long before they executed the search warrant.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: I believe the investigation is ongoing,
but I would like to ask if you are aware of any connection between
this heavily armed group at Coutts, Alberta, and any other block‐
aders or protesters during the period?

Mr. Rob Stewart: We did not identify any direct connection.
They were assessed to be members of a particular IMVE group
called Diagolon, and there are other members of Diagolon in the
country.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Can you confirm that the investigation is
ongoing and that we are awaiting the results of that investigation?

Mr. Rob Stewart: No, I can't. That's for the RCMP to speak to.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Thank you very much.
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On February 11, the United States, in particular the Biden admin‐
istration, offered Homeland Security's help to end the Ambassador
Bridge blockade and other protests at the border. This subject was
first broached by Senator Carignan.

As the head of Public Safety for the federal Government of
Canada, has another country ever made such an offer before?

Mr. Rob Stewart: We have a close working relationship with
the Americans. Depending on the situation, we offer each other aid.
It's not uncommon.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Mr. Bendayan, I'm just
letting you know that it is two minutes. If you'd like to continue, it's
on your time.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Thank you very much. I'll move to Mr.
Virani.

Mr. Arif Virani: Thank you, Deputy Minister. I'm going to go
quickly as well.

In response to Mr. Naqvi, you had said that towing is part of the
order we've been examining. The idea of towing was given to you
by the people you were consulting with, including law enforce‐
ment. Is that correct?

Mr. Rob Stewart: That's correct.
Mr. Arif Virani: Some towing companies in this city were actu‐

ally receiving death threats if they dared to tow some of the immo‐
bilized trucks. Is that correct?
● (2105)

Mr. Rob Stewart: I can't speak to that as a matter of fact.
Mr. Arif Virani: Okay. The House of Commons statement, un‐

der section 58, references death threats being uttered.
Mr. Rob Stewart: Okay.
Mr. Arif Virani: Officers were provided, but what this tool—the

Emergencies Act—gave you was the ability to swear in those offi‐
cers very rapidly. Instead of taking days, it took minutes to swear
them in en masse.

Mr. Rob Stewart: That's correct.
Mr. Arif Virani: Mr. Green had put to you this idea about sup‐

ply chains. Another component, which I don't think you addressed
with Mr. Naqvi, was that the Emergencies Act powers gave you the
ability to not only freeze assets but also disrupt supply chains by
preventing people from giving fuel to stationary trucks that were
idling outside of Parliament.

Mr. Rob Stewart: That's correct.
Mr. Arif Virani: It also gave the government the ability to stop

the flow of people coming up here for the purposes of protesting,
not just into this area but actually into this country, including peo‐
ple who might have participated in the January 6 insurrection in the
United States.

Mr. Rob Stewart: That's correct.
Mr. Arif Virani: That gave the ability, from a law enforcement

perspective, to reduce the number of people who are actually par‐
ticipating in the illegal blockade, which allows you to have a more
reasoned and pragmatic logistical approach. You know how many
people are there. Therefore, you know how many officers you need

to execute a safe and non-violent removal of the blockade. Is that
correct?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes. Indeed, some trucks left Ottawa after
those financial orders were put in place.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): That is your time.
Mr. Arif Virani: Thank you.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): We will now move on

to Monsieur Fortin for three minutes.
[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

My question is for you again, Mr. Stewart.

I heard what you said about the tow trucks. If I understand cor‐
rectly, their contracts allow them to refuse or to not refuse—that
point isn't clear—to do the work. One thing is certain, however:
they did it.

To your knowledge, were there any sanctions for the tow truck
operators, such as cancelling contracts, fining them, or other penal‐
ties?

Mr. Rob Stewart: I don't know anything about that.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Do you know whether the

tow trucks that towed the trucks were in fact Canadian?
Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): How many tow trucks

were there, to your knowledge?
Mr. Rob Stewart: I don't know.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Did you sign a document

to order the tow trucks to come to Wellington Street and tow the
trucks?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Do you want to know whether I did it myself?
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Yes.
Mr. Rob Stewart: The answer is no.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Did you see orders like

that coming from a police officer or another authority?
Mr. Rob Stewart: No.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): If I understand correctly,

you can't tell me under what order, what injunction or what legal
provision the tow trucks decided, that morning, to tow the trucks.

Mr. Rob Stewart: I have only the testimony of the police.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): What did the police tell

you?
Mr. Rob Stewart: They confirmed that it was the case. The or‐

der gave them the power to...
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Who ordered the tow

trucks to tow the trucks?
Mr. Rob Stewart: The Commissioner of the Royal Canadian

Mounted Police...
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): That's Ms. Lucki, if mem‐

ory serves.
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Was it Ms. Lucki who gave the order to the tow trucks to come
and tow the trucks?

Mr. Rob Stewart: No, but she knew that someone in the police
had given the order.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): In your opinion, that
couldn't have been done before the proclamation?

Mr. Rob Stewart: No.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Why?
Mr. Rob Stewart: As I said, from what I know, the truckers re‐

fused to move their vehicles. It was impossible to...
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): If some truckers decided

to come back to Ottawa tomorrow morning and block Wellington
Street, and if there were more protests where there were children,
we would then have to invoke the Emergencies Act. Do I under‐
stand correctly?

Mr. Rob Stewart: No.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): What would be done dif‐

ferently?
Mr. Rob Stewart: The first thing that would be done would be

to prevent the protest.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Why wasn't it prevented

last February?
Mr. Rob Stewart: Simply because it was not foreseen.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): It was foreseen; it was an‐

nounced in advance.

Everyone knew that hundreds, even thousands of trucks were en
route to Ottawa.
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you, Monsieur
Fortin.
[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Did you tell me that my
speaking time was up?
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Yes, and I will pass the
chair on to you.

For my intervention, Mr. Chair, I'm happy to concede my time
after I move the motion, of which the notice was put. I move:

That, in light of recent reports that numerous secret Orders in Council have been
adopted, this committee demand the production of all secret Orders in Council
adopted in relation to the convoy occupations and blockades across Canada, the
invocation and/or revocation of the Emergency Measures Act, and that the docu‐
mentation be provided to the committee within 30 days of the adoption of this
motion.

● (2110)

[Translation]
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Do you want to present

that motion now, Mr. Green?
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): I'm tabling my motion
in my time. That's correct.

[Translation]
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Right.
Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Mr. Chair, I'd like my name to be on the

list of speakers.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Yes, Ms. Bendayan.
Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Is Mr. Green finished?
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): I think so.
Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I would like to propose an amendment to Mr. Green's motion.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): I want to clarify some‐

thing.

If I understand correctly, Mr. Green is relinquishing his three
minutes of speaking time; he doesn't want to ask the witness ques‐
tions.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: He doesn't have three minutes...
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): He is relinquishing his

three minutes of speaking time and wants to present his motion.

[English]
Hon. Larry W. Campbell: There's a loss of audio.
Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Senator, the chair is just consulting the

clerk on a matter of procedure.

[Translation]
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Mr. Green, I gather that

you want to present a motion and Ms. Bendayan wants to speak.

I'm going to ask committee members whether they agree to con‐
tinue the round of questions, knowing that Mr. Green will not be
asking questions. After the round of questions, Mr. Green will be
able to present his motion. So we will release the witnesses at the
point when we debate the motion, which may take some time.

[English]
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Respectfully, as a point

of order, that direction is not in order. I am duly entitled, given the
notice of motion. It is a properly moved motion. It's in order. I have
time. I'm able to do it. I'm moving the motion.

[Translation]
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): I agree with you,

Mr. Green.

[English]
Hon. Larry W. Campbell: Mr. Chair, could I—

[Translation]
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Just a minute, Mr. Camp‐

bell.

Mr. Green, I understand that you want to present your motion.
What I'm asking committee members is whether they want you to
do it now or they want us to finish the round of questions. I believe
there are still three...
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[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): There's a motion on
the floor, respectfully, Mr. Chair. The motion is on the floor.

[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): I understand that you are
opposed to us finishing the round of questions, but I'm asking the
other committee members the question.

Do the members want us to finish the last three questions from
senators before discussing Mr. Green's motion or do they prefer that
we discuss it right away?

[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): This whole interven‐
tion just took up the time that it could have been passed.

[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): I understand that you ob‐
ject to us continuing the round of questions, Mr. Green. You want
to present the motion right away.

[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Yes, the motion's on
the floor.

[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Right.

Because we don't have unanimous consent, we will study
Mr. Green's motion. It may be that the three senators' three minutes
of speaking time won't get used.

Mr. Green, I understood.

I think it was Ms. Bendayan's turn to speak to your motion.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: I'll be very brief, Mr. Chair.

I want to thank people for their patience.

I propose to amend Mr. Green's motion by adding “dans le cas
où ils existeraient” at the very end of the sentence.

I'm going to read my amendment in English.

[English]

At the very end of the sentence that is before you, members, I
propose to amend the motion by adding the words “should they ex‐
ist”. The reason for this amendment is that, as we heard in earlier
testimony this evening during the meeting from the deputy minister
of justice, no such secret orders in council exist. That is his testimo‐
ny, and the motion, as written, presupposes the existence of secret
orders in council.

We are happy to vote in favour of the motion and have an official
response given to the question. However, we would ask that the
amendment be added in order that we don't presuppose the exis‐
tence of any such documents.

● (2115)

[Translation]
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): According to the list of

speakers, only Mr. Campbell and Mr. Carignan want to come back
to it.

Before I continue, Mr. Green, just tell me whether you would ac‐
cept...
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): I don't have to accept.
It's on the floor. It's good to go.
[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Do you accept the pro‐
posed amendment?
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Yes.
[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): So we will continue to de‐
bate Mr. Green's motion as amended by Ms. Bendayan. Is that al‐
right with everyone?

Mr. Campbell, the floor is yours.
[English]

Hon. Larry W. Campbell: Thank you, Chair.

It's okay. You've answered my question. I appreciate it, and I'm
sorry I interrupted.

Thank you.
[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Thank you, Mr. Campbell.

I now give the floor to Senator Carignan.
Hon. Claude Carignan: I just wanted to point out that this is

Tuesday, June 7, 2022.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Notice was given on

June 3, 2022.
Hon. Claude Carignan: That's right. Today is the first time we

have seen it.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Notice of the motion was

filed on Friday, June 3.
Hon. Claude Carignan: But the motion is being presented now.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): It is being presented...
Ms. Rachel Bendayan: The motion is being presented today, but

it was circulated on Friday.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): The date of the motion is

June 3.
Hon. Claude Carignan: Right.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Is that okay?

I give the floor to Mr. Virani. It will then be Mr. Motz's turn.
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[English]
Mr. Arif Virani: I have two notes. If any secret orders were ever

passed, they would have to have been tabled with this committee by
operation of the statute within two days of their passage in secret,
and it would have required this committee to be sitting in camera. I
think that underscores the fact that these things don't exist. I would
put that out there for people to mull over.
[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Since there are no other
speakers, we will call the question on Mr. Green's motion.

Mr. Clerk, will you call the roll?
Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Are we calling the question on the mo‐

tion as amended, Mr. Chair?
The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Yes, the question is being

called on the motion as amended by Ms. Bendayan.

Do you want me to read it?
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): I read it into the record
when I moved it.
[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): Right.

In that case, Mr. Clerk, you can go ahead with calling the roll.

A voice: It's unanimous.

The Joint Chair: Perfect.

(Motion as amended agreed to unanimously)

The Joint Chair: Mr. Green, I turn the meeting chair back over
to you.
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you. I will take
the chair back.

I'll cede my time although, procedurally, I'm not required to. I
did that as a bit of a courtesy, hoping we could have moved through
that quickly. I apologize. It took more time perhaps than necessary,
given the guests.

We'll move on to Senator Boniface for three minutes.
The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Thank you very much.

I just want to go back to some of the questions around the tow
trucks. I appreciate that you aren't in the operational capacity, but
you would be receiving information.

My understanding, watching it, would be that it was not just a
few tow trucks. There were many tow trucks. From a police opera‐
tional perspective, the operation would have to be done in tandem
with a number of trucks. It's not as simple, as I observed it, as need‐
ing one truck at a time to move and move out.

I would assume that in your briefings you would have—from the
RCMP and you would have had it from other agencies—an idea of

the complexity of the type of operation that would be required. Am
I correct?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes, you are correct in the general sense. We
were not privy, of course, to the plans of the police or the number
of tow trucks they required, but we were well aware that many
were required.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Can you tell me, as it
went on, about the role of CBSA? I assume it falls under your port‐
folio.

Mr. Rob Stewart: It falls under the Minister of Public Safety.
The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Yes.
Mr. Rob Stewart: They were actively involved in these consul‐

tations. They were actively involved in monitoring, obviously, the
borders that they man, and they were providing advice about the
convoys as they appeared.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): I assume that the CB‐
SA would also have a role in sharing information with law enforce‐
ment agencies, and that at least some of the information they would
have been picking up from their own sources. Would that be cor‐
rect?

Mr. Rob Stewart: Absolutely. They work in close concert with
the police of jurisdiction, and the police of jurisdiction work togeth‐
er to gather intelligence.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): With respect to the
part of the order that would have dealt with people coming from
outside of the country for the convoy, I would expect some of that
information would have come through or been brought to the atten‐
tion of CBSA. Would that be correct?

Mr. Rob Stewart: To the extent that it was known by the police,
yes.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Okay.
Mr. Rob Stewart: They were able to discern it, though, them‐

selves by questioning at the border.
The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Sure. You hit where I

was going. Thank you.

Particularly around the length of the protest for the people who
were living here in Ottawa—and I think Mr. Naqvi talked about
this—we started to see, if I remember correctly, some counter‐
protests taking place, which I would have thought would also make
trying to manage the event much more difficult from the police per‐
spective.

● (2120)

Mr. Rob Stewart: That may be the case. I didn't receive that as
information. There was the possibility that the counter-demonstra‐
tions could clash, but I believe they were separated.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Yes, but as you look
forward, I would think—and I'll ask the police this because, as you
indicate, it is an operation they would know—the more people you
draw with opposing opinions against each other, you would certain‐
ly be looking down the road at a more complex situation. Would
you not agree?
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Mr. Rob Stewart: Indeed, although I would emphasize the point
that I made earlier, which is that the risk as we assessed it in the
context of Ottawa in particular, but elsewhere with the blockades as
well, was the threat of mobilizing to serious violence in the con‐
voys themselves.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you.

In our final round we have Senator Carignan.

You have three minutes, sir.
[Translation]

Hon. Claude Carignan: On February 12, the Ottawa Police Ser‐
vice said the following on its website:

All available officers were deployed last night. We have a plan to end this un‐
lawful occupation and await the necessary reinforcements to do so.

Here, the Ottawa Police Service says “we have a plan”. Were you
informed of this plan?

Mr. Rob Stewart: No.
Hon. Claude Carignan: Did you ask any questions when you

saw this statement by the police service on February 12? Did you
ask what the plan was?

Mr. Rob Stewart: No, because it was neither usual or appropri‐
ate to intervene in police operations.

Hon. Claude Carignan: I find that statement bizarre. You say it
is not in your nature to intervene in their operations. However,
when it is observed that they aren't able to tow vehicles, the Emer‐
gencies Act is applied.

That's a somewhat substantial intervention, don't you think?
Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes, but obviously the plan was determined to

be insufficient.
Hon. Claude Carignan: How could you determine that the plan

was insufficient if you had neither asked for it nor seen it?
Mr. Rob Stewart: I'm talking about up to that point.
Hon. Claude Carignan: On February 12, the Ottawa Police Ser‐

vice said “we ... await the necessary reinforcements to do so.”

Do you know how many additional police it requested?
Mr. Rob Stewart: Initially, I think it requested 1,800 officers,

according to the former police chief.
Hon. Claude Carignan: Right.
Mr. Rob Stewart: Ultimately, nearly that many police were sent.
Hon. Claude Carignan: Right.

Did you send those police?
Mr. Rob Stewart: The RCMP sent about 1,000 officers.
Hon. Claude Carignan: What was the date when they were

sent?
Mr. Rob Stewart: It was the middle of the following week.
Hon. Claude Carignan: So it was after February 14.
Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes.
Hon. Claude Carignan: Those police had been requested before

that, though.

Mr. Rob Stewart: Yes. They were requested almost at the begin‐
ning.

Hon. Claude Carignan: Right.

Were you aware that the City of Ottawa would not ask the Cana‐
dian army for tow trucks?

Mr. Rob Stewart: No. I'm not aware of that.
Hon. Claude Carignan: Right.

So you have no knowledge of the fact that on February 10, the
general manager of emergency and protective services for the City
of Ottawa, Kim Ayotte, said that he would not ask the army for tow
trucks because it was like asking the army to come to Ottawa.

Mr. Rob Stewart: No, I'm not aware of that.
Hon. Claude Carignan: You don't read Le Soleil?
Mr. Rob Stewart: I was aware that there were discussions con‐

cerning the army in general.
Hon. Claude Carignan: However, concerning the army tow

trucks...
Mr. Rob Stewart: No.
Hon. Claude Carignan: You didn't hear that comment by Kim

Ayotte, a City of Ottawa official, on February 10?
Mr. Rob Stewart: No, I had no conversations with...
Hon. Claude Carignan: It wasn't brought to your attention? It

wasn't highlighted in your media review?
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Thank you.

That brings our rounds to a close. I'd like to thank all the wit‐
nesses for being with us this evening. You are certainly free to go. I
appreciate your contribution to the discussion tonight.

We do have a matter before the committee that needs to be re‐
solved. It has come to our attention that Interim Chief Bell of the
Ottawa Police Service is unable to attend our next meeting. I would
like to propose that we invite former police chiefs Peter Sloly,
Charles Bordeleau and Matt Torigian for that particular session to
provide us with....

I'm sorry. It's the 21st. I should remind us that the next meeting
we have is on June 14.

Yes, Senator Boniface.
● (2125)

The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): Just so you are aware,
before you adjourn, I need to put another one on the....

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Okay, I just want to
make sure we have agreement by the committee.

We're going to go to Mr. Motz and then Mr. Naqvi.
Mr. Glen Motz: Thank you, Chair.

If we look back at our work plan from before, we felt that former
chief Sloly needs a panel of his own for an hour and a half at the
very least. I'm just trying to find the actual—
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The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): We could split them
up. We could have Mr. Sloly in the first session and the other two in
the second.

Mr. Glen Motz: Who are the other two gentlemen you men‐
tioned, Mr. Green?

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): I've just been informed
that the OPP is confirmed for the first section, so we'd have them in
and we now have a choice between Mr. Sloly for an hour and a half
or the other folks who were involved in a tangential way.

An hon. member: We want Sloly by himself.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Okay. Mr. Motz, is that
all?

We'll go to Mr. Naqvi.
Mr. Yasir Naqvi: Thank you, Chair.

I was going to suggest we definitely have Mr. Sloly. It is impor‐
tant that he present to this committee.

I'm not too sure about Mr. Bordeleau and Mr. Torigian in terms
of the value. However, I think a person we should also invite and
hear from is Mayor Watson, who was very central to all of this.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): He's on the list.
Mr. Yasir Naqvi: I was going to suggest that, if we were going

to invite two people, then perhaps the other person could be Mayor
Watson, but I hear that....

You had mentioned three names, so I just wanted to suggest that.
Thank you.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): It sounds like we have
worked it out.

In summary, on the 21st we'll be having the OPP in the first hour,
and then we will invite Mr. Sloly. We will know at the next meeting
if he cannot avail himself to the committee for whatever reason,
and then we'll make adjustments accordingly. Do we have consen‐
sus around the table on that?

Mr. Yasir Naqvi: Can I make a suggestion?

If Mr Sloly is not available, can we then consider Mayor Watson
instead and see if he's available?

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): It works. We'll put him
on as a backup for the clerk's consideration at the time.

For the record, that's by unanimous consent for that part of the
schedule.

Excellent. I'll now turn the floor over to Senator Boniface.
The Joint Chair (Hon. Gwen Boniface): I've spoken to all

members and I am wondering if I could put a motion forward mov‐
ing that the clerk consult with all members to see if we would have
availability in September.

The thought has been to put two full days together prior to re‐
turning on September 19. It will depend on availability, so I thought
perhaps we should canvass that to start with and then we can seek
approval of the leadership if that's the next step.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Members, you've
heard the proposition put forward by Senator Boniface.

Mr. Motz, did you want to intervene?
Mr. Glen Motz: Yes.

We've talked about it amongst our group. We certainly want to
get at the business of this committee. We're amicable to that. I'm
not sure where my Liberal colleagues are in relation to their caucus
meetings prior to the return of session. Ours are that Wednesday
and Thursday, September 14 and 15.

An hon. member: Ours are one day before that.

Mr. Glen Motz: So yours are the Tuesday and Wednesday.
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Why don't we have the

clerks work that out? We obviously have that as well. I think the
motion is just the intention to work out the availability.

An hon. member: At the very least, we have Monday.
Mr. Glen Motz: Yes. Monday for sure we can have—
The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): If we just agree to it

in....

I'm sorry. Go ahead, Ms. Bendayan.
Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I was going to suggest September 15 and 16. To Mr. Motz's
point, we are in meetings until September 14, end of day.

I think September 15 and 16 would work well for us, but I under‐
stand that September 15 might be difficult for you, colleagues.
[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Rhéal Fortin): September 15 and 16
aren't possible for me.
[English]

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): Perhaps I can bring
things back, because we do have a hard stop.

I think the motion is wise. The senators have their considerations
as well. It allows our analyst and clerk to go away and come back
with a date. We'll be meeting next week and the week after that to
make sure we zero it in.

If we can get agreement around the table that we'll take that ap‐
proach, which I think is a very wise and sound approach, of really
getting back into this in the fall, then the direction will go out and
we'll come back in the next meeting. Do we have any objections to
that?

Some hon. members: Agreed.

The Joint Chair (Mr. Matthew Green): That being said, let the
record show that it's unanimous consent on that.

That's not for the dates. They're going to go to you with the
dates, and we're going to come back in the next meeting to confirm
it.

That being said, I'd like to thank everybody for their participation
in this evening's meeting.
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I will now adjourn this meeting.

 









Published under the authority of the Speaker of
the House of Commons

Publié en conformité de l’autorité
du Président de la Chambre des communes

SPEAKER’S PERMISSION PERMISSION DU PRÉSIDENT
The proceedings of the House of Commons and its commit‐
tees are hereby made available to provide greater public ac‐
cess. The parliamentary privilege of the House of Commons
to control the publication and broadcast of the proceedings of
the House of Commons and its committees is nonetheless re‐
served. All copyrights therein are also reserved.

Les délibérations de la Chambre des communes et de ses
comités sont mises à la disposition du public pour mieux le
renseigner. La Chambre conserve néanmoins son privilège
parlementaire de contrôler la publication et la diffusion des
délibérations et elle possède tous les droits d’auteur sur
celles-ci.

Reproduction of the proceedings of the House of Commons
and its committees, in whole or in part and in any medium,
is hereby permitted provided that the reproduction is accu‐
rate and is not presented as official. This permission does not
extend to reproduction, distribution or use for commercial
purpose of financial gain. Reproduction or use outside this
permission or without authorization may be treated as copy‐
right infringement in accordance with the Copyright Act. Au‐
thorization may be obtained on written application to the Of‐
fice of the Speaker of the House of Commons.

Il est permis de reproduire les délibérations de la Chambre
et de ses comités, en tout ou en partie, sur n’importe quel sup‐
port, pourvu que la reproduction soit exacte et qu’elle ne soit
pas présentée comme version officielle. Il n’est toutefois pas
permis de reproduire, de distribuer ou d’utiliser les délibéra‐
tions à des fins commerciales visant la réalisation d'un profit
financier. Toute reproduction ou utilisation non permise ou
non formellement autorisée peut être considérée comme une
violation du droit d’auteur aux termes de la Loi sur le droit
d’auteur. Une autorisation formelle peut être obtenue sur
présentation d’une demande écrite au Bureau du Président
de la Chambre des communes.

Reproduction in accordance with this permission does not
constitute publication under the authority of the House of
Commons. The absolute privilege that applies to the proceed‐
ings of the House of Commons does not extend to these per‐
mitted reproductions. Where a reproduction includes briefs
to a committee of the House of Commons, authorization for
reproduction may be required from the authors in accor‐
dance with the Copyright Act.

La reproduction conforme à la présente permission ne con‐
stitue pas une publication sous l’autorité de la Chambre. Le
privilège absolu qui s’applique aux délibérations de la Cham‐
bre ne s’étend pas aux reproductions permises. Lorsqu’une
reproduction comprend des mémoires présentés à un comité
de la Chambre, il peut être nécessaire d’obtenir de leurs au‐
teurs l’autorisation de les reproduire, conformément à la Loi
sur le droit d’auteur.

Nothing in this permission abrogates or derogates from the
privileges, powers, immunities and rights of the House of
Commons and its committees. For greater certainty, this per‐
mission does not affect the prohibition against impeaching or
questioning the proceedings of the House of Commons in
courts or otherwise. The House of Commons retains the right
and privilege to find users in contempt of Parliament if a re‐
production or use is not in accordance with this permission.

La présente permission ne porte pas atteinte aux privilèges,
pouvoirs, immunités et droits de la Chambre et de ses
comités. Il est entendu que cette permission ne touche pas
l’interdiction de contester ou de mettre en cause les délibéra‐
tions de la Chambre devant les tribunaux ou autrement. La
Chambre conserve le droit et le privilège de déclarer l’utilisa‐
teur coupable d’outrage au Parlement lorsque la reproduc‐
tion ou l’utilisation n’est pas conforme à la présente permis‐
sion.

Also available on the House of Commons website at the
following address: https://www.ourcommons.ca

Aussi disponible sur le site Web de la Chambre des
communes à l’adresse suivante :

https://www.noscommunes.ca


